## Wilfrid Laurier University

# Scholars Commons @ Laurier

Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)

2017

# JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS IN CANADIAN CRIMINAL COURTS

Olena Beshley Wilfrid Laurier University, besh0030@mylaurier.ca

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd

Part of the Administrative Law Commons, Common Law Commons, Criminal Law Commons, Criminology Commons, and the Criminology and Criminal Justice Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Beshley, Olena, "JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS IN CANADIAN CRIMINAL COURTS" (2017). *Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive)*. 1910.

https://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/1910

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholars Commons @ Laurier. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive) by an authorized administrator of Scholars Commons @ Laurier. For more information, please contact scholarscommons@wlu.ca.

# JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS IN CANADIAN CRIMINAL COURTS

by

Olena Beshley (090740030), BA Criminology, Wilfrid Laurier University, 2016

## **Thesis**

Submitted to the Department of Criminology in partial fulfilment of the requirements for Master of Arts in Criminology

Wilfrid Laurier University, Brantford

Running head: JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS

**ABSTRACT** 

Criminal justice systems in Canada and around the world have been established to deal

with matters that require attention, punishment, and justice. An important function of criminal

justice systems is the evaluation of evidence presented in the court of law. Evidence from

jailhouse informants who testify that they have been privy to confessions of crimes is a

contentious issue. Much of the scholarly literature available to date on wrongful conviction cases

focuses on causes of insufficient and unreliable evidence obtained through different techniques

and from different sources. Despite the high number of investigations into wrongful conviction

cases, the subject of jailhouse informants has not yet been thoroughly explored as a leading cause

of wrongful convictions in Canada. The current study employed a qualitative methodology in

analyzing reported criminal cases that have used jailhouse informant's testimony in order to find

parallels with respect to cases, informants, and testimonies. The findings center on the credibility

of evidence, the trustworthiness of informants, judicial cautions and the consequences that

followed the use of such evidence. While jailhouse informants have been identified as a cause of

wrongful convictions, there have been few studies that provide insight into these cases in

Canada. The present study focuses exclusively on the influence of jailhouse informants (also

known as in-custody informants) and their role and impact on decision-making in criminal trials.

Further implications of the findings on potential miscarriages of justice are also discussed.

*Keywords:* jailhouse informants, in-custody informants.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to begin by acknowledging those who have been by my side throughout this academic journey.

First, I would like to say thank you to Dr. Jennifer Lavoie, who once told me that I should apply for the Master's program. If not for your faith in me and your support, I would never have been writing this thesis. You have guided and supported me from the very beginning of my academic journey. It was you who inspired me to work on this thesis topic and who showed me the right way to do it. Thank you for being my role model and inspiring me to thrive for more.

Secondly, I would like to thank my second adviser, Dr. Nikolai Kovalev. Thank you for spending countless meetings with me and explaining numerous things (sometimes more than once!) that were at times hard for me to understand. Your guidance, patience, and support with the structuring and theorization of this work is very much appreciated.

Thirdly, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Kathryn Campbell, an external examiner, who gladly agreed to examine my work and provided feedbacks. Thank you for your comments and suggestions on how to improve my work.

In addition, I would like to acknowledge my cohort friends: Katy, Jeff, and Krystle. Big thank you to all of you for your help with referencing, proofreading, and all the other little details that have helped me with during this extensive process. Thank you for your patience and for responding to my numerous questions regardless of your own busy schedules.

Also worthy of tremendous gratitude, an incredible thank you Marg Harris, whose smile, hugs, and help have always kept me in good spirit and positive about various technical challenges that I have faced.

Most importantly, I would like to say thank you to the two people in my life who have supported me in any decision I have made throughout my academic career and outside of it: my mother, Tetyana and my husband, Igor. If not for my mother, who strove to give her kids the best life possible by bringing us to Canada, I would have never been where I am right now. Thank you for believing in me and respecting the life decisions that I have made. Thank you for those sleepless nights, for those long hours of overtime, and for everything else that I can only imagine you have done, in order to give a better life to my sister and I.

Thank you to my husband, who has always supported me in anything and everything. Thank you for being patient and for working hard to support our family, so I could study without worrying about anything else. I appreciate everything you do for our family and for all the emotional care you have provided me with while I was studying.

To finish, I would like to say countless thank you to my mother-in-law, Svetlana, who took great care of my baby son while I was busy studying. I am grateful for your understanding and your help with anything I have asked of you.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
	11
CHAPTER ONE	
INTRODUCTION	
CHAPTER TWO	
LITERATURE REVIEW	5
Jailhouse Informants: Who Are They?	
The Vetrovec Warning	
Causes of Wrongful Convictions	
No 'Honour among Thieves'	
Fighting Wrongful Convictions – Organizations and Inquiries	
The Morin Inquiry	
The Sophonow Inquiry	
Innocence CanadaLiterature Review Conclusion	
CHAPTER THREE	17
RESEARCH GAP	18
Research Questions: Similarities between Cases that Used the Testir	
Informants	•
Importance of the Current Study	19
CHAPTER FOUR RESEARCH METHOD 21	
Qualitative Research Study Procedure	21
Analytical Plan	
Objectives and Scope	
Methodology	
Case Selection	
Defining, Collecting, and Storing Data	27
CHAPTER FIVE	
ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS	28
Demographic Characteristics of Jailhouse Informant	
Demographics on Criminal History	
Description of the Testimony	
Types of Criminal Cases in Which Jailhouse Informants Testify	
Judicial Warnings and Grounds for Appeal	
Compensation for Testimony	
Justifications for Providing Evidence	

# JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS

# **CHAPTER SIX**

INFLUENCE OF INCENTIVES ON JAILHOUSE INFORMANT'S MOTIVATION TO TESTIFY  Manipulation of Evidence to Receive Incentives	
CHAPTER SEVEN	
JUDICIAL PERCEPTIONS OF JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS Indicators of Jailhouse Informant's Credibility	53
CHAPTER EIGHT	
THE ROLE OF TESTIMONY IN THE CONVICTION OF AN ACCUSED  Grounds for Appeal  Importance of Evidence  The Use of Unreliable Witnesses and their Evidence	57 58
CHAPTER NINE	
JUDICIAL CAUTIONS  Vetrovec Warning in Cases Studied  The Continued Use of Polished and Convincing Liars in the Court  The Duty to Convict  False Confessions Introduced by Informants  Understanding Court Language and Terminology	61 64 65 67
CHAPTER TEN	
DISCUSSION  KEY FINDINGS  RECOMMENDATIONS  LIMITATIONS AND DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH  CONCLUSION	69 70 72
REFERENCES	85

#### JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS IN CANADIAN CRIMINAL COURTS

#### Introduction

The Canadian Criminal Justice System is an institution tasked with the delivery of societal justice, however, it is not perfect. There is anecdotal and empirical evidence that shows occasions where miscarriages of justice<sup>1</sup> occur and our legal system has failed to fulfil its role (Sherrin, 1997; Sorocham, 2009). These mistakes can cause the criminal justice system to be called into disrepute. Wrongful convictions, where an innocent person has been convicted and punished for a crime they did not commit, occur regularly and have a negative effect on the public's perception of the criminal justice system when they are discovered (Rosen, 1992). When wrongful convictions occur, the system is seen as unproductive and unsatisfying. One example was the infamous trial of Guy Paul Morin of Ontario in 1995— an individual whose life was ruined by the egregious failings of the judicial system, which wrongfully convicted him for a crime he did not commit. The testimony provided by jailhouse informants played a significant role in his conviction.

A growing body of empirical research has begun to reveal the imperfections of our nation's legal system, and how improvements must be made to ensure that justice is fairly dealt (Sorocham, 2009; Trotter, 2004, Weisman, 2004). Miscarriages of justice occur in part due to the use of investigative tools and trial evidence used by law enforcement bodies. The most common examples of investigative tools and evidence that result in errors are: legal officials' tunnel vision, eyewitness unreliability, misleading scientific evidence, jailhouse informants, false confessions, and disclosure failures (Sagiul, 2007; Sherrin, 2005). In-custody informants or

Oniels (20

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Quirk (2007,) explains that miscarriage of justice not only involves conviction of an innocent person butt it also allows "guilty to walk away unpunished", therefore undermining the whole idea of the justice system (p.761).

jailhouse informants are defined as persons "in custody or facing criminal prosecution" who have an "expectation of some reward in the form of reduction of charges, eligibility for bail, leniency in sentencing or better conditions of confinement" in exchange for information provided to law enforcement officials (Burnett, 2008, p. 1079). The present study focuses exclusively on the influence of jailhouse informants (who may also start out as police informants), and their role and impact on decision making in criminal trials.

Miscarriages of justice brought on by 'system failures' result in significant personal loss, including broken families, lack of trust in the judicial system, ruined lives, restricted opportunities, and loss of self-belief and faith (Huff, Rattner, & Sagarin, 1996; Leo, 2009; Macfarlane, 2006). However, the subject of jailhouse informants and their contribution to injustices lacks attention. There are significant gaps within the literature on jailhouse informants with regard to types of cases where they are used, information on their criminal histories, and other relevant information that could help to identify these individuals as unreliable witnesses. To the extent that the use of jailhouse informant testimony is related to wrongful convictions, it is important, therefore, to study how courts use jailhouse informant testimony in Canada, in order to implement changes that will help to deliver justice. While in-custody informants have been identified as a cause of wrongful convictions in Canada and elsewhere (Innocence Canada, 2016; Natapoff, 2006; Roach, 1999, 2007, 2010), there are few studies that provide insight into these cases in Canada.

#### The Purpose of the Study

The following literature review will demonstrate that there are numerous cases in which evidence provided by jailhouse informants has been used at trial and has resulted in a wrongful conviction (Burnett, 2008; CBC News, 2009; Raeder, 2007; Report of the Kaufman Commission

on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin, 1998). In addition, several commissions of inquiry were established to address specific wrongful convictions and have provided recommendations and insight into the use of in-custody informants in their recommendations. The present study was performed in order to examine the influence of unreliable evidence by jailhouse informants on trial decisions and outcomes. The current study also identifies the similarities between cases in which the reasoning behind the use of jailhouse informants were investigated, with those cases that provided recommendations on how to avoid systemic acceptance of such evidence in future instances.

The phenomenon of wrongful convictions in Canada is not a new concern. Moreover, the use of jailhouse informants in Canadian criminal courts has been practiced since the 1980s (*Sophonow* 1982). Therefore, the subject of jailhouse informants requires thorough attention and analysis because of the potential for it to contribute to wrongful convictions. Researchers have also drawn attention to the fact that the testimonies provided by jailhouse informants could have different meanings depending on the context. For example, how the information was acquired and provided to the interested bodies, and how it was introduced to the general public can alter the importance that is placed on the testimony (Reader, 2007). For some, jailhouse informant's testimony may be seen as a helpful gesture of one 'honest' inmate testifying against another individual to assist authorities in providing justice. For others, however, jailhouse informant's testimony may be seen as a decision to satisfy personal interests such as receiving incentives.

The current study will shed light on the use of jailhouse informants in the Canadian court system.

The literature review outlines some of the most common issues that the Canadian criminal justice system has faced when dealing with numerous evidentiary matters and investigative techniques that have been erroneously used to prove an accused's guilt. However,

## JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS

the main objective of this research was to discover how jailhouse informants' testimony has been used in Canadian Courts. To address this question, a descriptive analysis that examined judicial decisions from Canadian Criminal Courts, that were later appealed and published in LexisNexis Quick Law database was performed. A qualitative paradigm used in the current study permitted a discovery of patterns of similarities and differences amongst cases that used jailhouse informant evidence.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### **Literature Review**

Jailhouse Informants: Who are They?

In-custody informants or jailhouse informants have been defined as individuals who are currently in custody awaiting their trials, or already serving their sentences as a result of criminal prosecution, who expect compensation in exchange for providing information about other accused individuals (Burnett, 2008). In addition, Winograde (1990) defines an in-custody informant as "an inmate, usually awaiting trial or sentencing, who claims to have heard another prisoner make an admission about his case" (p.755). The term jailhouse informant is not the same as police informants, police agents, or confidential informers, who sometimes are intentionally placed closer to accused individuals in custody in order to gain information. Such informants carry out the specific task of acquiring evidence, which is later reviewed and in some cases, manipulated by investigative bodies in order to aid their investigation (Department of Justice Canada, 2013). The Morin and Sophonow Inquiries, both examining the factors that influenced these wrongful convictions, specify that individuals who have acquired second-hand knowledge regarding statements provided by the accused, that did not come directly from the accused, were not classified under the category of jailhouse informants (Kaufman Report, 1998; The Inquiry Regarding Thomas Sophonow, 2001). Moreover, simply being in detention/custody with the accused and possessing some information regarding an accused's confession, does not yet grant an individual the status of an informant (Dufraimont, 2008).

Dufraimont (2008) argues that because jailhouse informants are often individuals who are awaiting their own trials, or are serving their own sentences, they are motivated to provide testimony against an accused in order to gain a personal benefit. The information provided by the

jailhouse informant to the police could have been exchanged for a sentence reduction, dropping of certain charges, and other benefits (Dufraimont, 2008). The exchange of testimony for any sort of incentive may motivate an informant to provide false evidence and consequently, false claims made by jailhouse informants have resulted in wrongful convictions (Morin 1992; Sophonow 1984; Truscott 1967). In some instances, jailhouse informants manipulated their testimony in order to satisfy their own interests (Duframoint, 2008). Many scholars have argued for the irrationality of accepting into a court of law the testimony of a person who remained in detention and was considered a sophisticated and convincing liar, to prove the guilt of another individual, who is ostensibly regarded as innocent until proven guilty (Burnett, 2008; Duframoint, 2008; Winograde, 1990). The use of jailhouse informant testimony is considered to be particularly troublesome when such evidence is the only evidence available in a criminal case and points to the guilt of the accused. Winogarde (1990) adds that the use of jailhouse informant's testimony in criminal courts not only creates the potential for wrongful convictions, but it also raises various challenges regarding the proper use of such evidence and its credibility. In summary, the use of jailhouse informant's testimony is problematic and presents significant issues related to the credibility of evidence and trustworthiness of so-called 'prison rats'.<sup>2</sup> Consequently, many have argued for the use of protections, such as judicial warnings, to safeguard against potential miscarriages of justice.

## The Vetrovec Warning

Canadian law requires that trial judges must provide cautionary instructions to jurors about the appropriate use of jailhouse informant's testimony (Shukra, 2002). More specifically, this involves giving a *Vetrovec* warning to jurors in cases where jailhouse informant evidence is

<sup>2</sup> Sometimes jailhouse informants or in-custody informants are referred to as 'prison rats', 'snitches', informants, 'rats', and other. Many of these synonyms are found throughout literature and used in this paper.

used. A *Vetrovec* warning is a "clear and sharp warning" provided by the judge in order "to encompass any prosecution witness who was deemed to be untrustworthy. The true purpose of the warning when given was to avoid the risk of conviction based on unreliable evidence" (Shukra, 2002, p. 759). The evidence presented by jailhouse informants is considered of questionable reliability thus requiring the need for the judicial warning. *Vetrovec* warnings became mandatory after the case of *Vetrovec* (1982) where an accused had been convicted of conspiracy to commit drug trafficking (heroin). Mr. Vetrovec was charged along with eight other individuals in the city of Vancouver, British Columbia. As a result of the trial Mr. Vetrovec was sentenced to 16 years imprisonment. In this case, one of the accomplices of the accused provided a key piece of evidence in the case, accusing Mr. Vetrovec in the commission of the crime.

Based on the evidence provided by this accomplice, the trial judge decided that it would be prudent to warn the jury about the danger of taking into consideration any evidence provided by an accomplice who is considered an 'untrustworthy witness' and ultimately testifies in his own best interests (*Vetrovec* 1982). As a result,

In rejecting any rigid formulation that would lead to an automatic warning and a requirement for corroboration for accomplice testimony, the Supreme Court of Canada chose instead to fashion a flexible rule that could accommodate the particular circumstances of each case (Shukra, 2002, p.760).

This risk however, did not prevent jailhouse informant evidence from being accepted into Canadian court proceedings. Instead, the court decided to clarify the requirements for accepting such evidence and in such cases the credibility of the informant must be established (Shukra, 2001). In addition, jailhouse informant testimony has to be corroborated with other evidence to prove the guilt of the accused. Each court case is different in its nature, despite its structure, and so, it is not always easy to apply a standardized set of rules to each individual witness providing testimony; sometimes exceptions and errors are possible.

Innocence Canada [formerly the Association in Defence of Wrongly Convicted (AIDWYC)], concurs that a suitable option would be to warn the jury about the risks and benefits of adopting testimony of an untrustworthy person. Shukra (2002) recommends that judges should use the *Vetrovec* warning when informant evidence is provided, in order to caution jurors about the risk of using such evidence. While Kaufman's and Cory's recommendations, (stemming from the inquiries examining the wrongful conviction of Guy Paul Morin and Thomas Soponow) around dealing with informant testimony are significant, (Kaufman Report, 1998; The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001), many of these recommendations have not yet been implemented (Reader, 2007).

## **Causes of Wrongful Convictions**

Research has revealed that jailhouse informants are motivated to advance their own interests above all else (Dufraimont, 2008). Furthermore, lying under oath is common for jailhouse informants (see for example: *Brown* 2003; *Druken* 1999; *Duguay* 2007; *Warner* 1994). Thus, their perjury is known to have a negative impact on the final decision of the court and is also a factor leading to wrongful convictions (Dufraimont, 2008). Since the time of the original trials of Steven Truscott, Guy Paul Morin, and Thomas Sophonow (all individuals who have been publicly recognized as being wrongfully convicted), numerous recommendations and guidelines regarding the use of this type of testimony have been provided. The recommendations include guidelines and procedures that law enforcement must follow when investigating criminal matters and emphasizes that evidence which contradicts any case they may be building (and which may point to an alternate suspect) should not be discarded (Kaufman Report, 1998). It is concerning that the utilization of jailhouse informants still continues after their use has resulted in several widely known wrongful conviction cases, especially following the guidelines for the

use of this evidence were established. Given that Canadian courts still maintain the use of jailhouse informant testimony this creates the potential for wrongful convictions.

One of the leading causes of wrongful convictions in Canada is prosecutorial misconduct (Reader, 2007). One example of prosecutorial misconduct involves the falsification and an introduction of incorrect evidence by investigative bodies and Crown Attorneys (Reader, 2007). Introduction of false evidence may not only lead to injustice, but it often contradicts and undermines information produced by truthful witnesses. Other types of prosecutorial misconduct may cause violations affecting constitutional provisions, procedural and evidentiary law violations, and others, which may each lead to wrongful convictions. The logic of procedural misconduct extends to the use of jailhouse informants by prosecutors where the Crown attorneys to convict, use unreliable and untrustworthy witnesses who, in many cases, possess extensive criminal histories and previous records of testifying.

For those tasked with prosecuting and "punishing" the perceived wrongdoers (notably investigative units, Crown Attorneys, and legal systems), there is often great pressure and scrutiny from higher authorities, victim stakeholders, and society-at-large to exact swift justice, particularly in high profile cases. Subsequently, this pressure often contributes to the "cutting of corners" if these shortcuts accomplish the desired outcome (i.e. clinching a guilty verdict). It is in these very circumstances that testimony of jailhouse informant is likely to be used (Natapoff, 2006). The desire to resolve the case by any means can lead to tunnel vision or confirmation bias. Tunnel vision is defined as the process where "actors in the criminal justice system focus on a suspect, select and filter the evidence that will 'build a case' for conviction, while ignoring or supressing evidence that points away from the suspect's guilt" (Findley & Scott, 2006, p. 292). Similarly, confirmation bias refers to the process where authorities try to confirm their own

hypothesis by "favouring information that confirms rather than refutes their initial assessment" (McMillan & White, 1993, p. 443). Thus, the lack of evidence, confirmation bias, and tunnel vision of the personnel in the justice system frequently results in the use of jailhouse informant testimony, which may lead to a wrongful conviction.

One of the reasons inmates who are serving their own sentences are allowed to testify against other inmates, is that the criminal justice system officials, while in the process of investigation and witness selection, tend to choose witnesses who provide favourable information to them, information that supports their case and helps to convict an individual (Raeder, 2007). Several research studies have discovered that, in some instances of wrongful conviction, the prosecution was willing to use 'experts' that favoured their case (Medical Misdiagnosis Research, 2011). For example, Dr. Charles Smith was a forensic pathologist who provided professional opinion and evidence in numerous murder cases implicating defendants in crimes. According to Dr. Smith, he believed that his job was to help the Crown to convict an accused rather than provide truthful evidence (Medical Misdiagnosis Research, 2011), as has been found in other instances in the literature (Giannelli and McMunigal, 2007; Levy, 2009). In other cases, experts gladly provide their 'professional' opinion, in exchange for monetary rewards or other forms of compensation (Levy, 2009). As a result, an expectation to receive compensation for professional judgment could result in biased opinions by these witnesses. This potential for bias is concerning not only as it relates to jailhouse informants, but also to other professional experts who are called to testify (Levy, 2009).

## No 'Honour among Thieves'

The perception of prisoners testifying against one another has changed over time. In the past, it was considered a violation of a supposed "prison code" to testify against other prisoners for personal gain. Today only a small portion of prisoners adhere to the code "honour among thieves" (Curriden, 1989, p. 56). Instead, the notion of 'honour' has turned into a "dog eat dog" mentality, where everyone fights for his or her own survival in any way possible (Curriden, 1989, p. 56). Today in most prisons across the world, "prison officials" must provide "specific inmates with protection through a number of administrative methods, including transfers to safer facilities, institutional segregation orders, and assignment to protective custody" to protect them from violent and angry inmates (Vaughn, 1996, p. 143-144). Jailhouse informants are among the prisoners who may require this level of protection, as their testimony against other inmates go against the 'honour code' within prisons; thus, other inmates may subject them to violence and prejudice. There is however, lack of information in the literature on the justification for informing, specifically involving jailhouse informants.

## Fighting Wrongful Convictions: Organizations and Inquiries

## The Morin Inquiry

A number of inquiries established as a result of previous wrongful convictions have provided guidelines regarding how jailhouse informant evidence should be managed. The Morin Inquiry, established in response to the wrongful conviction of Guy Paul Morin and The Inquiry Regarding wrongful conviction of Thomas Sophonow offered specific instructions regarding the use of such testimony. Judicial authorities suggested prohibiting the use of jailhouse informant's testimony unless the alleged confession was recorded (Kaufman Report, 1998). In addition to the recorded confessions, Justice Kaufman suggested that each statement made by the informant

must be handwritten, "supported by a witness who is not an in-custody informer, or unless the statements contain reference to previously unknown facts, subsequently substantiated by the authorities" (p. 599).

In addition, one of the sections of the Morin Inquiry addresses compensation for providing information to law enforcement agencies. Kaufman suggested that in future prosecutors must ensure a record be kept of any agreements law enforcement personnel make with in-custody informants (Kaufman Report, 1998). In addition, any information regarding incentives or an informant's cooperation must to be written down and signed by the Crown Attorney, the defence, and the informant or his/her counsel (Kaufman Report, 1998). This procedure should benefit three parties: the Crown Attorney, the informer, and the accused, where an issue regarding cooperation and motivation to testify arises. As a benefit to an accused, the inquiry required that the Crown disclose to the defence any information regarding the informers' previous history of testifying, criminal records history, and information about benefits awarded to an informer. These disclosure procedures are designed to ensure the trustworthiness of an informant, as well as enhance justice and accuracy in the admission of the testimony (Kaufman Report, 1998).<sup>3</sup>

The Kaufman (1998) report provided numerous suggestions on how to work with cases where jailhouse informant evidence was presented, such as accuracy hearings, cautionary instructions, corroboration, and full disclosure of relevant information. The most important part of the debate around the use of in-custody informants centered on the corroboration requirement. The report suggested that statements from in-custody informants (and from any other informant

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Several Canadian provinces have enacted many of these policies and have created additional instruction in regards to the use of jailhouse informant in Canadian criminal courts. These provinces are as follows; Ontario, Manitoba, New Brunswick, New Foundland and Labrador, Alberta, and Nova Scotia (Kaufman Report, 1998).

who is receiving a benefit for assisting law enforcement) must be corroborated; that is, some other evidence that confirms the jailhouse informant's testimony must be available to support it. In *Warner* (1994), "the trial judge went on to direct the jury that it was 'dangerous for [them] to act on the evidence of such a person unless it is corroborated. The trial judge then pointed to one piece of evidence the jury could rely on as corroboration" (p.20). According to the Kaufman Report (1998), it is the responsibility of the judge to inform the jury about an informant's reliability, incentives offered to an accused, and the informant's previous testimonials. The Morin Inquiry suggested that prosecutors must take a proactive attitude in deterring wrongful convictions (Kaufman Report, 1998). The job of the Crown Attorney is not limited to the simple task of convicting perpetrators. Instead, their job is to deliver justice, as they are the representatives of the justice system.

In *Morin* (1992), one of the suggestions emphasized by the inquiry was to establish an incustody informer registry. The registry would provide access to any information about the informer, including the history of prior testimonials, information about incentives received, and assessments of reliability of an informant as a witness (Kaufman Report, 1998). According to the Kaufman Report (1998), access to the registry must be granted to "prosecutors, defense counsel, and police" ("Recommendation 64", p. 621). The objective of such a database would be to save officials time and resources when trying to assess an informant's credibility. These measures would also eliminate costly pre-trial motions, hearsay hearings, *voir dires*, and possibly court hearings. In addition, the prosecutors' obligation to disclose relevant information would remain not only to the defence, but to the registry as well. The disclosure of evidence would allow access to relevant information in a short time. Additionally, the Kaufman Report (1998) emphasizes the prosecutor's duty to inform the defense about any relevant information regarding

informers that the registry may contain. Full disclosure to the registry by the Crown may contradict their entire case, but the job of the Crown Attorney should be focused on attaining justice, rather than simply the successful prosecution of an accused. Furthermore, mutual cooperation of all sides would allow for a faster and more efficient process. On the other hand, failure to disclose relevant information to the defense may lead to an injustice (Kaufman Report, 1998; The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001).

## The Sophonow Inquiry

The Sophonow Inquiry (2001) holds very strong opinion as to the untrustworthiness and unreliability of jailhouse informant's evidence. Unlike The Morin Inquiry, the Sophonow Inquiry takes a strong stance against the use of jailhouse informant's evidence in Canadian Criminal Courts. According to the Sophonow Inquiry (2001):

Jailhouse informants comprise the most deceitful and deceptive group of witnesses known to frequent the courts. The more notorious the case, the greater the number of prospective informants. They rush to testify like vultures to rotting flesh or sharks to blood. They are smooth and convincing liars. Whether they seek favours from the authorities, attention or notoriety they are in every instance completely unreliable The inquiry emphasized that in-custody informants should not be used as reliable witnesses in the courts (p.101).

The only case when jailhouse informants evidence can be accepted, according to the inquiry, is in the case of kidnapping. Jailhouse informants "might be permitted to testify [only] in a rare case, such as kidnapping, where they have, for example, learned of the whereabouts of the victim" (The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001, p.21). In such situations where jailhouse informant's evidence is being accepted, appropriate rules and procedures must be followed and the number of jailhouse informants should be limited to one. Additionally, a strict warning from the judge about the dangers of accepting the testimony from untrustworthy witness must be provided to the jurors (The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001).

One of numerous errors that have been identified by the inquiry that resulted in the wrongful conviction of Thomas Sophonow was the failure of the Crown attorney to disclose all relevant information pertaining to the credibility of jailhouse informants in the case, to the defence (The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001). The disclosure of relevant materials would allow for cross-examination and possible elimination of some witnesses. Alike the Morin Inquiry (1998), the Sophonow Inquiry (2001) requires that all relevant information must be disclosed to the defence by the Crown in order to avoid further mistakes and injustices.

In addition to other recommendations provided by the inquiry, any interviews with jailhouse informants should be videotaped or audiotaped and further steps should be taken to ensure that provided statements have not been discovered through the media or any other sources but came directly from an accused (The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001). In addition, the statement provided by jailhouse informants must reveal information that is only available to the person who committed the crime, provide enough significant information about the crime, and must be "confirmed by police investigation as correct and accurate" (The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001, p.114).

Lastly, the inquiry emphasizes that "in those rare cases where the testimony of a jailhouse informant is to be put forward, the jury should still be instructed in the clearest of terms as to the dangers of accepting this evidence" (The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001, p.114). Specifically, the report advises that it may be wise to provide examples of "both the Morin case and the Sophonow case as demonstrating how convincing, yet how false, the evidence of jailhouse informants was" (The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001, p.114). Adequate warning to jurors about the dangers of accepting evidence of jailhouse informants must be provided. The warning should contain explanatory information about how easy, in some cases, it is for jailhouse informants to

obtain information that they later use to their advantage. Failure to provide warning or follow any of the listed recommendations should result in mistrial (The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001).

#### Innocence Canada

Innocence Canada, formerly the Association in Defence of the Wrongly Convicted (AIDWYC, 2013), is a Canadian-based non-profit organization focused on helping the wrongfully convicted. The organization is interested in overseeing cases that are defined as potential injustices; thus, this organization is tasked with representing the rights of potentially innocent individuals who have been incarcerated. Innocence Canada (2016) has been very successful and productive in preventing injustices; having assisted in exoneration of twenty-one individual convicted of crimes that they did not commit. Innocence Canada began its practice from a small group of volunteers, who came together to investigate the circumstances and evidence that led to the conviction of Guy Paul Morin. Following this, numerous individuals organized the Justice for Guy Paul Morin Committee (AIDWYC, 2013). The Committee's main objective was the collection of proper evidence to prove the innocence of Guy Paul Morin. Later, the Committee became known as AIDWYC (2013) – currently Innocence Canada. To date, numerous wrongly convicted Canadians have been exonerated with the help of the organization (Innocence Canada, 2016). Some of these cases involved inaccurate use of jailhouse informant testimony that resulted in the incarceration of innocent people (i.e. Morin 1997). Innocence Canada takes a strongly conservative stance against the use of jailhouse informant testimony by recommending the withdrawal of evidence of in-custody informers (Kaufman Report, 1998; The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001) due to the increased potential for wrongful conviction (Innocence Canada, 2016).

## **Literature Review Conclusion**

It is abundantly clear that courts are well aware of the problems and challenges regarding the credibility of jailhouse informants. According to Lincoln and Morrison (2006), the use of untrustworthy witnesses raises concerns regarding the "fallibility of due process, human rights violations, and the limitations of the adversarial approach" (p. 3). Thus, more attention should be paid to the accused's' right to a fair trial and the role of a trial judge in excluding unreliable evidence. Unfortunately, Canadian courts, despite being aware of the dangers brought about by informant's testimony, have not been receptive to recognizing a right to the exclusion of unreliable evidence, such as that provided by jailhouse informants.

Numerous factors leading to wrongful convictions have been discussed. Many of the causes have been largely studied by researchers and other concerned stakeholders, but some, like jailhouse informants, have received very minimal attention to provide answers to important questions. The use of jailhouse informant testimony in the Canadian justice system has raised countless concerns. Such evidence offers a significant influence on the verdict, has been demonstrated to be potentially unreliable, and is vulnerable to overvaluation by the trier of fact. For these reasons, it has been strongly associated with wrongful criminal convictions (Dufraimont, 2008).

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

## Research Gap

Much of the literature available on in-custody informants provides information regarding theoretical problems with their testimony. Numerous cases point to the fact that the use of jailhouse informants in Canadian criminal courts creates a potential for injustice<sup>4</sup> but in practice, no study has been done to discover and analyse the circumstances of the use of these witnesses in court cases. Moreover, scholars suggests that there is a high possibility of wrongful convictions in cases where the evidence provided by jailhouse informants is used (Burnett, 2008; Dufraimont, 2008). Some scholars point to the fact that jailhouse informants are willing to manipulate the criminal justice system to satisfy their own interests (Dodds, 2008). While there has been much discussion about the credibility of in-custody informant's testimony, there is a paucity of empirical knowledge concerning informant identities and the circumstances surrounding their use in court cases. Reader (2007) suggests that due to the lack of systematic research on wrongful convictions arising from jailhouse informants' testimony in Canada, further investigation is required. A detailed analysis of cases that have used jailhouse informants' testimony to date has not been performed. Through a qualitative content analysis of judicial decisions of Canadian cases involving jailhouse informants' testimony, the current study aimed to address this research gap and discover the similarities between informants, defendants, and cases in general.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Several high-profile Canadian cases have resulted in wrongful convictions. The most well known cases are; *Sophonow* (1982), *Morin* (1992), and *Truscott* (1959). The particular example of injustice in these cases was the use of jailhouse informants' evidence as reliable evidence to convict.

Research Questions: Similarities between Cases that Used the Testimony of Jailhouse Informants

One of the main arguments raised by scholars and other concerned individuals against the use of jailhouse informants in Canadian court proceedings contends that the testimony of such informants is a leading cause of wrongful convictions (Dufraimont, 2008). The current study was designed to gain insight into the nature of Canadian criminal court proceedings involving jailhouse informants' testimony. The following sub-questions were investigated over the course of a thematic, qualitative data analysis, which informed the main research question;

- What were the demographic characteristics of jailhouse informants?
- In what types of cases were jailhouse informants used (e.g., offence type)?
- What judicial precautions or warnings were provided, if any, in cases where jailhouse informants' testimony was used?
- Were there commonalities between the cases with respect to defendants, and informant's characteristics (e.g., age, criminal record, education, relationships between them)?
- What incentives did jailhouse informants receive for their testimony, if any?
- Was jailhouse informant testimony a reason for appeal of the case?
- What justifications did jailhouse informants provide for their decision to testify?

## **Importance of the Current Study**

The present study on the use of jailhouse informants is important, because jailhouse informants are perceived by judges as untrustworthy witnesses who are able to invent evidence in expectation of compensation. Thus, they create a significant risk of injustice in the criminal justice system (Kaufman Report, 1998). Indeed, the use of jailhouse informants raises concerns

regarding the deficiency of the process of justice, violation of human rights, and the weakened legitimacy and professionalism of the justice system.

Several high-profile Canadian cases have resulted in wrongful convictions. The most well known are that of *Truscott* (1959), *Sophonow* (1982), and *Morin* (1992). In these cases, jailhouse informants' testimony played an important role in convicting innocent individuals. These cases have fuelled the debate over whether, and how, such testimony should be used in criminal courtrooms. As discussed, current law in Canada encourages trial judges to use discretion when allowing the testimony of a jailhouse informant to be heard or to be accepted in the court of law, and to provide cautionary instructions to jurors about the appropriate use of jailhouse informant's testimony and about the false reliability of such evidence (Roach, 2010). Despite known deficiencies with this type of testimony, the use of jailhouse informants' testimony in Canadian courts continues. The present study is designed to enhance our understanding of the nature and use of jailhouse informant testimony in Canadian courts cases that were later appealed.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

#### **Research Method**

## **Qualitative Research Study Procedure**

The purpose of qualitative research is not only to investigate the natural world, but also to discover the meaning and relationships between different variables (Warren & Karner, 2010). The main question that this study was designed to answer was, "In what circumstances does jailhouse informant's testimony tend to be used in Canadian criminal court proceedings?" In the current study, a thematic analysis of cases aimed to uncover what happened during the court proceedings that allowed jailhouse informants' testimony to be produced and introduced in the court of law. The qualitative study design, through the process of coding, helped to locate common patterns between judicial decisions of cases that used the testimony of in-custody informants.

### Analytical Plan

This study used constructivist grounded theory (Charmaz, 2006), which helped to direct, manage, and construct an original analysis of the data. The "grounded theory method consists of systematic, yet flexible guidelines for collecting and analyzing qualitative data to construct theories 'grounded' in the data themselves" (Charmaz, 2006, p. 2). The study began with a content analysis of several court cases, in order to develop a conceptual analysis from the beginning of the project. In addition, an examination of the existing literature on the topic of jailhouse informants and the use of their testimony in Canadian court cases was completed (as discussed in CHAPTER TWO of this paper).

The jailhouse informant study began with structured coding sheets that were used to capture descriptive information about cases, defendants, and jailhouse informants. Following

that, a thematic analysis of most prevalent themes found in the judicial decisions of cases involving jailhouse informant's testimony was conducted. This study used qualitative coding to "separate, sort, and synthesize" data (Charmaz, 2006, p.3). Coding means attaching "labels to segments of data that depicts what each segment is about"; "it distils data, sorts it", and provides a way to make comparisons between different segments of data (Charmaz, 2006, p.3). Data for the current study was coded using both initial and focused coding. Through the initial coding process, specific fragments of court cases (relevant words, lines, phrases, and sentences) were examined to understand their meaning and analytic importance (Charmaz, 2006). The focused coding followed next. This process allowed for the selection of the most useful codes discovered by the process of initial coding and then separated the most relevant ones to analyze them further and to understand their theoretic importance (Charmaz, 2006). Analytical description was used to refer to the development of a conceptual understanding of how, in which cases, and with what cautions (if any), jailhouse informant's testimony was used in Canadian court cases that were later appealed. Analytical description helped to identify similar patterns between important elements of data, in order to construct a consistent representation of records (Warren & Karner, 2010). The preliminary stage of the study helped to identify the similarities between court cases being analyzed. The similarities found through coding helped to establish particular areas of interest, which assisted in providing answers to sub-questions. Results from the present study identified four dominant and recurring themes: (1) Evidence for the use of judicial cautions in the court trials; (2) Information on incentives received by in-custody informants for testimony; (3) Information on judicial opinions of jailhouse informants and their evidence; and (4) The value of evidence provided by informants and its importance in the case.

## Objectives and Scope

The study's intention was to explore how jailhouse informant's testimony has been used in Canadian court cases that were later appealed. Based on the literature review, it was concluded that evidence provided by in-custody informants was insufficient to be used as significant proof of guilt in the court of law – especially to demonstrate the guilt of an accused individual. The current study aimed to discover the similarities between cases where jailhouse informant's testimony was used. Analysis of the similarities was important, as these were believed to have an impact on the cases. The main intention was to discover and analyze these similarities, with hopes to understand the systematic issues caused by the evidence of jailhouse informants contribute to the system's failure. For this reason, a comprehensive and detailed analysis of 35 cases was completed.

As previously stated, commissions of inquiries have determined that significant errors have happened in the court of law pertaining to an unreliable evidence. Thus, the current study carried out the process of coding and selected meaningful themes that could potentially explain errors in the criminal cases through one specific form of evidence. These investigative, procedural, and judicial errors can be explained as systemic injustices. Given the fact that numerous studies emphasized the possibility of miscarriages of justice caused by the use of jailhouse informant's testimony, this study intended to find out whether jailhouse informant's testimony was used as a reason for an appeal of the case. Additionally, other themes such as credibility of the evidence, judicial opinions about informants and their evidence, the importance of such evidence to a conviction, the benefits provided in exchange for testimony, the demographic characteristics of defendants and informants, and judicial warning were examined

in the current study. All of these themes helped to provide answers to research questions posed by the current study.

The similarities between cases that used such testimony were uncovered, information as to why and how jailhouse informant's testimony in cases occurs, who benefits from it, and what additional concerns arose from its usage were all revealed in the study. It was beyond the scope of this study to test whether the use of jailhouse informants leads to miscarriages of justice.

Rather, the research was interested in describing the circumstances of their use in the criminal trials.

## Methodology

#### Case Selection

This study conducted an analysis of the written judicial decisions from Canadian criminal trials, including in-custody informant's testimony, to determine how courts have handled such testimony over the past 22 years. The LexisNexis Quick Law database was used to identify and select these court judgments using specific search criteria. LexisNexis Quick Law is a Canadian database that contains judicial decisions primarily from appellate courts (i.e., Supreme Court of Canada and Courts of Appeal). All cases selected for the study had been appealed and involved jailhouse informant testimony pertaining to alleged confessions by an accused. The Wilfrid Laurier University library database provided access to the relevant court cases, with links to numerous Canadian and International databases. This study included only English judicial decisions. All cases between 1994 and April 12<sup>th</sup> of 2016 were included in the search. The first reported case available through LexisNexis that has used an identified jailhouse informant as a witness was from the year of 1994; therefore, it was selected as the beginning time period for the study. The following search criteria was used:

In LexisNexis Quick Law – Court Cases tab was selected in order to conduct the advanced search. In the "Search Terms" a key phrase "jailhouse informant" or "incustody informant" was entered. Next, the source option "All Canadian Court Cases" and the jurisdiction "All Jurisdictions" were selected from the drop down menu. Finally, in the court option "Courts of Appeal" was selected. Lastly the "Search" option was pressed.

The above criteria helped to identify all reported judicial decisions of cases from Canadian history that have used jailhouse informant's testimony and have been appealed.

Eighty-eight unique court cases resulted from the search. However, the relevance of cases was determined through thoughtful examination and coding and as a result, only 72 reported cases were available for inclusion in this study. These cases were sorted in chronological order. When one of the cases was selected, "The Related Content" option in the top right corner provided the link to the relevant documentation regarding the case (lower court case trial, summary of the case, voir dire, and other documents). To answer the main research question and sub-questions, all relevant documentation was examined and analyzed.

Overall, 72 reported court cases from Canadian jurisdictions (with an exclusion of the province of Quebec) had been coded. For a case to be included in the study and later coded, sufficient information about the actual case that used the testimony of in-custody informant, the crime, informant, other relevant study information had to be available in the matter.<sup>5</sup> Only 35 cases appeared to be sufficient for the current study, as other cases only included the phrase a 'jailhouse informant' or an 'in-custody informant' for citation purposes, or referred to other cases where jailhouse informants were used. Consequently, the present study included 34 defendants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Information on how cases have been selected for current study is described in the Case Selection Section of this paper.

and 45 jailhouse informants in 35 cases. <sup>6</sup> Additionally, all cases studied were for indictable offences and had been tried by the jury.

The majority of cases studied were in the province of Ontario. Table 1 illustrates the division of cases used for the study among Canadian provinces<sup>7</sup>.

Table 1. Division of Cases with Jailhouse Informants by Canadian Provinces

Provinces	Case Frequency	Percentage
Ontario	22	62%
Nova Scotia	4	11%
Newfoundland and Labrador	3	9%
British Columbia	2	6%
Manitoba	2	6%
New Brunswick	1	3%
Saskatchewan	1	3%
Total	35	

All of these cases included sufficient information about the evidence of jailhouse informants to be included in the study.

The concentration of the majority of cases being from one province (Ontario) may be explained through general statistics. According to Statistics Canada (2011), the province of Ontario is the most populated Canadian province; containing more than thirteen million people (as of 2011). Ontario also has the largest number of people in correctional institutions (Statistics Canada, 2015). Quebec, if it were also included in the sample, would have been the second largest province with cases involving jailhouse informants; as it is also the second region by the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In two cases (*Tran*, 2000 and *Tran*, 2001) an accused was the same person charged with two separate offences. Additional, some cases involved more than one jailhouse informant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> For the purpose of current study, only reported court cases available through LexisNexis have been used. As a result, some Canadian provinces were not included in the study as no reported court cases that have used jailhouse informants have been found thought the applied search criteria in the LexisNexus database.

population size among Canadian provinces<sup>8</sup>. Despite the vast majority of cases centred within one specific province, 35 cases in total had been included from seven different provinces of Canada. This study included all available (reported) English judicial decisions from Canadian provinces with substantive information about cases involving jailhouse informant's testimony.

## Defining, Collecting and Storing Data

As suggested by Warren and Karner (2010), current study and any other "qualitative analysis requires a large quantity of thickly descriptive data, good organizational skills, and interpretive ability" (p. 215). However, before data can be analyzed, the researcher must decide on which data are relevant and important to be examined. The current study analyzed numerous court documents, legal writings, and academic literature. An Excel spreadsheet was created in order to organize these themes. Found recurrent themes created the foundation for further analysis and discussion. As the process of coding continued, many new themes were discovered and added to the spreadsheet. This allowed for organization of important elements of information, which were later analyzed to answer the main research question as well as to identify the most prevalent themes.

Although the current study did not require anonymity or confidentiality procedures, limited access to all the data and other relevant materials was maintained to avoid any loss or damage to the data. Access to relevant materials was provided to the thesis supervisors, who have provided significant assistance and guidance during the study process. Thus, part of the data were stored on the primary researcher's personal laptop, and hard copies were kept in a home office in a locked office desk to prevent any loss of the data.

0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The province of Quebec was not included in the study as it contains French language cases. In order to code French language court decisions for current study, research would need to hire someone fluent in French language. However, the luck of financial resources did not permit this.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

## **Analysis and Findings**

## **Demographic Characteristics of Jailhouse Informants**

A key characteristic of jailhouse informants was that they were predominately male (94%, 33 cases out of 35). Female in-custody informers were involved in only 6% of cases (2 cases). The current study discovered that much of the information that would help to identify specific demographic characteristics of in-custody informants was unavailable in sampled cases. Specifically, there was a paucity of information regarding age, education, family status, social status, and ethnicity; only in rare occasions were such variables mentioned. <sup>9</sup>

Due to the informer's privilege clause (Ashenhurst, 2013), several cases had replaced the name of the informant with the conventional "John Doe" (McInnic 1999; *Pelland* 1997), making it difficult to locate demographic information about these individuals. Specifically, "the Supreme Court of Canada has long held that an informer's identity is privileged information. This is to protect informers from retribution and to encourage citizens to help police" (Ashenhurst, 2013, p. 617). Therefore, informer's privilege limits identifying information about an informer who provided a statement regarding the commission of a particular crime by a

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The ethnicity of the defendant was described only in two cases; in one, the defendant was identified as Indo-Canadian and in another case as Indian (*Dhillon* 2002; *Sharif* 2009). The same was evident for jailhouse informers; in one case informant's ethnicity was described as African American (*White* 2014) and in the other case as Indian (*Dhillon* 2002). The age of informant and defendant was disclosed in 9 out of 35 cases; an average age of informant was 26.5 years of age, and an average age of defendant was 36 years old. The youngest accused was 18 years old and the oldest was 53 (*McInnis* 1999; *White* 2014). In relation to informants, the youngest informant was 21 years of age and the oldest was 32 years of age (*Baltrusaitis* 2002, *Brooks* 1998). These numbers were based only on the small percentage of information obtained through the process of coding as majority of cases did not disclose much relevant information regarding the personal characteristics of the informant or the accused. Information about education level or marital status of informants and defendants was not significantly available. Only in one of the cases the jailhouse informant was described as being married (*Morin* 1997). In five out of 35 cases defendants were described as being married, having partner, or being in common-law relationships (*Brooks* 1998; *C.D.* 2005; *Mallory* 2007; *Stark* 2002; *Travenor* 2001).

#### JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS

specific offender (Lawlert, 1986). Out of 35 cases coded that used the testimony of jailhouse informants, only 23 cases (66%) included the name of the in-custody informant. Nine cases listed only the initials of the informer's name – "Mr. X" or "D.M." for example. <sup>10</sup> In thirteen cases, the name of the informant was either not provided or replaced by "John Doe". <sup>11</sup> The number of informants used in cases studied exceeds the number of cases but not all informants have been identified by any name in cases (see Table 2); some cases simply stated that two or more jailhouse informants had been used.

Table 2. Identification of Jailhouse Informants by Names

Identity of Informant	Frequency of Cases
Name available	23
Initials or Short Abbreviation	9
Name replaced with "John Doe"	13

Similar to the demographics of jailhouse informants, male defendants represented 94% of cases and female defendants were involved in 6% of cases. Considering that "in 2014/2015, women accounted for 15% of overall correctional admissions to provincial/territorial correctional services" in Canada (Reitano, 2016, p. 4), such a low number of cases with female defendants (and by extension, informants) is consistent with the statistics. Based on the information presented by Simpson, McMaster, and Cohen (2013), females represent a significantly smaller percentage of the Canadian prison population. As expected, there were also fewer female jailhouse informants than male jailhouse informants in the current study.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Dhillon 2002; Druken 1999; McInnis 1999; Morin 1997; Sharif 2009; Snow 2004; Wells 2001.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Babinski 1999; Baksh 2015-2016; Baltruaitis 2002; Brown 2002; Campbell 2005; Dickins 2001; Khela 2009; Mallory 2007; McArthur 2013; McInnis 1999; Pelland 1997; Smith 2002; Travenor 2001; Warner 1994; White 2014.

In 33 cases that involved 32 male defendants, 43 male jailhouse informants were identified suggesting multiple informants were used in several observed cases (*Brooks* 1998; *Jawbone* 1998; *Mallory* 2007; *McInnis* 1999; *Morin* 1997,).

### **Demographics on Criminal History**

In comparison to the personal demographics of informants and defendants described in cases studied, significantly more information regarding the wrongdoing of both informants and defendants was identified. Information regarding the defendant's current crime was easily accessible and described in each of the cases, which also led to information about defendant's previous criminal history, as this was considered relevant in the course of the trial. Much less information regarding informants' criminal past or current crimes was available. Only in 26% of cases was information about the informants' current crimes available, and in 71% of cases information about informants' past crimes was described. The criminal past of informants was highly diverse, and included crimes such as: assault, drug related crimes, fraud, "possession of stolen property, failing to comply with an undertaking, uttering death threats, failing to comply with a probation order" (Baksh 2015: para 21), sex offenses (including offences against young children), robbery, break and enter, arson, conspiracy, attempts to commit murder (Mallory 2007), and many others. Moreover, the majority of informants had extensive prior criminal histories and were repeat offenders<sup>12</sup>. More importantly, many in-custody informants had repeatedly engaged in crimes of dishonesty during the course of their lives. Indeed, of the cases where information about previous criminal convictions of informants was described, 56% of convictions were identified as crimes of dishonesty. Crimes of dishonesty and untrustworthiness

Assoun 2006; Babinski 1999; Baksh 2015-2016; Baltrusaitis 2002; Brooks 1998; Brown 2003; Campbell 2005;
 Dhillon 2002; Druken 1999; Duguay 2007; Hurley 2010; Khela 2009; Mallory 2007; McDonal 2000; McFarlane 2012; Morin 1997; Sharif 2009; Snow 2004; Stark 2000; Tran 2000; Tran 2001; Travenor 2001; Trudel 2004;
 Warner 1994; White 2014.

are best described as including crimes such as "failing to comply, failing to attend, impersonation with intent and obstruct police" (*Baltrusaitis* 2002: para 40), and theft and fraud (*Babinski* 1999). In the present study, appellate judges in their reviews of appealed cases pointed to the fact that criminal history of dishonesty should be considered in accepting the testimony of jailhouse informant. This trend indicates that the trait of dishonesty was considered very important to the analysis of the informant's credibility and trustworthiness as a witness. Such untrustworthiness of jailhouse informants has become one of the main arguments in the wrongful conviction debate. Inquiry commissions in Canada and the United States have investigated wrongful convictions and analyzed the substantial damage done by the use of jailhouse informants, whose testimony was accepted despite the possession of records for crimes of dishonesty in their criminal past (Natapoff, 2006). Natapoff (2006) listed a few examples as to why it is unjust to use the testimony of jailhouse informant:

The founders of the Innocence Project discovered that 21% of the innocent defendants on death row were placed there by false informant testimony.

The Illinois Governor's Commission on Capital Punishment unanimously concluded that "[t]estimony from in-custody witnesses has often been shown to have been false, and several of the 13 cases of men released from death row involved, at least in part, testimony from an in-custody informant" (p.123).

Natapoff's (2006) concern for the use of unreliable witnesses with significant criminal records, including crimes of dishonesty, is supported by findings of the current study as in 56% of cases studied jailhouse informants had dishonest criminal histories. Moreover, in seven cases (20%) jailhouse informants in the study were still awaiting decisions of their own legal matters, as charges against them were pending, creating an opportunity for informants to work out a deal with authorities in exchange for their testimony. Several research studies show how unreliable such witnesses are and how their testimony has led to erroneous convictions (Natapoff, 2006). It

is concerning that most jailhouse informants used to testify have such unsavoury histories, despite previous concerns voiced and the potential for significant injustices.

The study also revealed significant use of incentives. Unfortunately, the history of our judicial system is rife with cases where unsavory witnesses were allowed to testify against individuals who were presumed innocent until proven guilty and who, based on the testimony of those unreliable agents (often with an element of corroboration), were wrongfully convicted (Roach, 1999; Saguil, 2007). It is outrageous that "a criminal charged with a serious crime understands that a fast and easy way out of trouble with the law is . . . to cut a deal at someone else's expense and to purchase leniency from the government by offering testimony in return for immunity, or in return for reduced incarceration" (Natapoff, 2006, p. 123). The current research supported this idea, given that in 23 cases (66%) informants received various benefits for their cooperation with authorities (*McDonald* 2000; *Tran* 2001). Incentives will be discussed in greater detail in CHAPTER SIX.

In regards to other demographic characteristics of jailhouse informants and defendants, the current study did not uncover significant information about the level of education of either party. Only in two cases (6%) high school level of education was mentioned when explaining defendant's employment situation (*Dhillon* 2002, *Morin* 1997). Other variables that were impossible to adequately uncover were ethnicity<sup>13</sup> and marital status. Too little information on these demographic variables was available in sampled court cases to allow for assumptions or conclusions to be responsibly made.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In *White* (2014), the in-custody informant was described as African American of origin. The *Dhillon* (2002) case, on the other hand, mentioned that an informant was Canadian but with Indian background. The accused in *Dhillon* (2002) was described as an individual of Indian descent as well.

In terms of the defendant's age, the youngest defendant in cases studied was 18 years of age. The oldest defendant was to 53 years of age. However, limited information regarding the age of informants was available, making it difficult to derive any specific conclusions. In terms of the relationship between informants and defendants, in 29 cases (82%) they first met in jail; in only two cases did the informant and defendant know each other prior to incarceration.

Information about how defendants and informants first met was missing in four cases (11%).

According to the jailhouse informants, all of the confessions from defendants were either directly heard in jail during conversations, or were overheard by informants while defendants engaged in the conversations with other inmates. In one case, the confession alleged to have come from a defendant's sleep talking (*Warner* 1994).

## Description of the Testimony

Regardless of their veracity, most in-custody informants (68%) claimed that the accused confessed to the crime. Despite different wording and situations in which confessions were obtained, the nature of all confessions was similar in its context; an accused was alleged to have talked about some detail of the crime, more or less stating his relation to it. For example:

A jailhouse informant provided the evidence needed to plug potential cracks in the Crown's circumstantial case, testifying that in the course of two meetings with the accused while the latter was in custody awaiting trial, the accused told him that he had killed his brother, that the police and the Crown would have a hard time proving the case because there was no forensic evidence linking the accused to the murder scene and he would make it look like the deceased was killed by his wife, and that the police did not find the murder weapon because he discarded it before they searched his camper (*Baltrusaitis* 2002: p. 2).

Some informants claimed that over the course of conversation with the accused, they had a feeling that the defendant felt enjoyment for what they had done and that police would have a difficult time proving the defendant's guilt (*Morin* 1992). Others provided detailed information regarding how the crime unfolded (*Snow* 2004), the type of weapon that was used (*Stark* 2000),

or other details about the perpetrator's emotions during the commission of a crime (*Warner* 1994). Overall, the alleged confessions were diverse in their wording. Some confessions contained slang language used by defendants, while others paraphrased content to make their testimony sound more presentable in court without using offensive lexicon. In *Batrusaitis* (2002), the jailhouse informant employed a strongly worded apparent confession of an accused: "You know I did it. I know I did it. Let's see them fucking well prove that I did it" (para 46). The descriptions of confessions in the current study appeared to illustrate that defendants have confessed to the crimes committed, or presented significant details about specific crimes to implicate defendants for specific crimes.

In the current study, all cases were eventually appealed when defendants made claims of innocence, or identified errors during the course of the trial. This finding is encouraging as "[in] recent years, the media have reported numerous high-profile cases in which individuals were convicted of and incarcerated for serious crimes they did not commit, only later to be exonerated" (Leo, 2009, p. 332). Twenty-nine cases (82 %) examined in the current study were appealed either solely on the evidence provided by jailhouse informants regarding a defendant's confessions, or a combination of unsavory informant's evidence and several other grounds.

Those other grounds included the fact that the confessions were police-induced, new evidence was uncovered with the development of post-conviction DNA testing, there were problems with the *Vetrovec* warning or eyewitness identification, there was new evidence regarding recantation of informant's testimony, and a possible violation of citizens' right (Gross, Jacoby, Matheson, et al, 2005). In some cases, the defence argued that the use of untrustworthy witnesses as jailhouse informants infringed the right of an accused; therefore, guilty verdicts led by the testimony from jailhouse informants should be dismissed and new trials ordered.

# Types of Criminal Cases in Which Jailhouse Informants' Testify

Despite the literature review emphasizing the fact that "informants have become law enforcement's investigative tool of choice, particularly in the ever-expanding world of drug enforcement" (Natapoff, 2006, p. 111), the current study provides only partial support for this pattern. Notwithstanding the fact that drug-related crimes played a significant role in informants' lives, these crimes did not prevail in the current research study; indeed, the crime of homicide dominated in 94 % of cases studied (*Hurley* 2010; *Khela* 2009; *Mallory* 2007; *Sharif* 2009; *Trudel* 2004). Table 3 illustrates the variety of crimes for which jailhouse informants were used in current study.

Table 3. Type of Crimes

Type of Charge	<b>Number of Cases</b>
1 <sup>st</sup> Degree Murder	22 cases
2 <sup>nd</sup> Degree Murder	12 cases
Manslaughter	1 case
Aggravated Sexual Assault	1 case
Attempted Murder	1 case
Sexual Assault	1 case
Robbery with Weapon	1 case
Conspiring to Obstruct Justice by Attempting	1 case
to Hire a Person to Kill a Witness in a Murder	
Trial	

The current research demonstrates that in some cases, defendants were charged on more than one count of murder or a combination of charges and that jailhouse informants were used in cases involving serious violence. <sup>14</sup>

In summary, jailhouse informants were used for the most egregious crimes, which carry the heaviest penalties in our society; murder and manslaughter. These crimes rarely go unnoticed by the media and society-at-large. Thus, in these cases, there is a great pressure on authorities to uncover and punish the perpetrator. The current study also demonstrates that police agencies are willing to rely on untrustworthy witnesses such as jailhouse informants in cases of serious crimes; as their aim may be to proceed with the charge and discover evidence to obtain a conviction when evidence that is more reliable is elusive. Authorities may be willing to pay for evidence that leads to the conviction of an accused; the more valuable an informant's evidence is perceive to be, the higher the financial compensation provided by police will be (Dodds, 2008). In many situations, authorities ignore the trustworthiness and reliability of evidence.

## **Judicial Warnings and Grounds for Appeal**

The current study paid close attention to judicial cautions employed in court matters that used jailhouse informants as witnesses. Not surprisingly, only one type of judicial caution had been referred to in most cases; in 18 of 35 cases (51%) there was reference to a *Vetrovec* warning and problems with its use. <sup>17</sup> The use of *Vetrovec* warnings in cases suggest serious credibility issues imposed by the evidence provided by jailhouse informants. Appellate judges reasoned

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Information regarding the use of jailhouse informants in cases of heinous crimes is available in later sections of this paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> More information on police willingness to provide financial and other types of compensations to in-custody informants in cases where no other sufficient evidence to convict an accused is available can be found in CHAPTER SIX of this paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The tendency of jailhouse informants to fabricate evidence in exchange for financial compensation and other benefits is broadly described in the Incentives Section and throughout this paper.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> The matter of the *Vetrovec* warning is widely discussed in the Judicial Cautions section of this thesis.

that lower court judges in numerous cases should have provided a judicial warning to caution the jury about suspicious evidence that in many cases seemed untruthful. The fact that a *Vetrovec* warning was required suggests that evidence of jailhouse informants required special attention; as such evidence is generally considered unreliable and dangerous and should be treated with extreme caution.

Overall, the analysis demonstrated that judicial warnings played an important role in a significant number of cases, however, there were problems with the adequacy of the *Vetrovec* warning. In Assoun (2006), "the trial judge did not give a clear sharp warning cautioning the jury about the dangers of accepting the evidence of any of the disreputable witnesses without some corroborating evidence" (para 145). Despite the presence of a warning in other cases, appellate judges identified numerous problems concerning judicial warnings. These problems were: no full warning was given, the judicial caution was not elaborated or explained to the jury, the trial judge failed to provide a warning after the testimony of an unreliable witness was presented, the defence council failed to request the *Vetrovec* warning, and/or that the warning was not presented at an appropriate time during the trial. <sup>18</sup> McElhaney (1995) demonstrated that the timing of any judicial instruction, including warnings, had an effect on how jurors perceived legal evidence. His study of mock jurors demonstrates that jurors might ignore judicial instructions if they were delivered at the wrong time during the trial. <sup>19</sup> The absence of a sufficient warning when evidence of a jailhouse informant was presented posed a significant risk to the fairness of due process and reliability of such evidence.

The current study demonstrated that appellate judges considered judicial warnings essential in all cases where informant's testimony was used. Due to previous criminal histories

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Assoun 2006; Brooks 1998; Hurley 2004; McDonald 2000; McElhaney, 1995.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The mock juries study by McElhaney (1995) is discussed in later chapter of this paper.

and demands for incentives, jailhouse informants were described as "a class of self-serving and unreliable witnesses. Widespread recognition of their inherent unreliability has grown in the aftermath of public inquiries into wrongful convictions where jailhouse informers figured prominently" (Public Prosecution Service of Canada, 2011). According to Chasse (2010), a *Vetrovec* warning is used as a measure to deal with potentially unreliable evidence of jailhouse informants. Thus, the present study revealed that the main issue of appeal in the majority of cases was, in fact, the lack of a proper *Vetrovec* warning. However, given the number of appeals for improper use, the results indicate that simply giving a *Vetrovec* warning is not sufficient. Rather, proper execution of the warning in such cases is also important and costly when it goes wrong. Therefore, the *Vetrovec* warning or a similar warning must be provided following the presentation of questionable evidence and should be emphasized and summarized by the judge at the end of the trial.

### **Similarities between Cases**

This study collected information about the criminal records of defendants and informants, relationships between them, records of psychological issues of both, and the type of current incarcerations of defendants and informants for most cases. Besides the gender, one of the most substantial characteristics that was evident in the majority of the cases was the criminal record of the defendant and informant. As mentioned previously, the majority of cases (71%) contained information about previous criminal records/convictions of informants. Diverse criminal histories of informants ranged from crimes of dishonesty to more serious crimes such as aggravated assault, drug offences, fraud, and sexual assault. Fifty percent of defendants had a

reported criminal history when tried for crime in analyzed cases. <sup>20</sup>,<sup>21</sup> Other similarities such as compensation for testimonies, judicial warnings, and the role of testimony of jailhouse informants found in cases studied are explained in later sections of this paper.

### **Compensation for Testimony**

The tendency of jailhouse informants to fabricate evidence and testify against an accused is known to increase the risk of a wrongful conviction of the innocent (Mosteller, 2009). In many cases "the testimony has been gained by the prosecution through explicit promises to benefit the informant if he or she testifies in support of the prosecution's case" (Mosteller, 2009, p. 548). The availability of incentives in exchange for testimony can encourage an informant to fabricate evidence in order to satisfy the requesting party. The history of exoneration through DNA technology is replete with examples of how innocent individuals were wrongfully convicted. A recent study demonstrates how 30% of individuals convicted based on the testimony of informants have been freed due to the advancement of DNA technology (Mosteller, 2009). Mosteller (2009) describes another study "of 340 exonerations from 1989 through 2003" where the phenomenon of wrongful convictions due to the use of evidence from in-custody informants was not widely studied, "however, their data revealed the important role of jailhouse informants in these convictions" (p.550). Jailhouse informants, involved in ninety seven cases in a study identified by Mosteller (2009), were described as providing false testimonies and receiving compensation for their participation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> One of those defendants was arrested for suspicion in murder while in a process of committing sexual assault on another victim (*Snow* 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> In *Mallory* (2007), both defendant and in-custody informant ended up in jail for the same criminal act; both were at the crime scene together but the informant did not actually see the defendant committing the crime. Later, the informant claimed that he overheard the defendant's conversation in jail where he confessed to the crime.

The current study demonstrates that most informants were rewarded for their assistance to the prosecution, which likely increased their motivation to testify (*Mallory* 2007; *Tran* 2001). The range of incentives varied in its diversity; ranging from better conditions of confinement, monetary rewards, reduction of charges, or other favours. The most powerful incentive that can be offered in exchange for testimony, however, is the promise of liberty (Mosteller, 2009). During none of the cases in the current study was a reward of liberty promised in exchange for informant testimony. Information about the type of incentives offered to jailhouse informants for their testimony was available in twenty cases (57%) in the current study. In other cases, the information about incentives was either protected, not disclosed, or in some instances, informants denied receiving any incentives at all (*Dhillon* 2002; *Snow* 2004).

Overall, it was challenging to determine what motivated jailhouse informers to testify against other inmates; however, 16 cases (47%) suggested that the availability of benefits had a positive effect on their willingness to provide testimony (*Mallory* 2007). For example, "In return for \$10,000, Metrakos [jailhouse informant] provided a sworn statement to the police claiming that Stewart [defendant] had admitted his involvement in the murders" (*Mallory* 2007: para 236). Other cases also illustrated how informants were able to manipulate police in order to receive incentives. In *Tran* (2000) and *Tran* (2001), an informant did not provide evidence in-full until he was paid a promised \$5000 for his testimony. Further, in *Assoun* (2006), a jailhouse informant made a deal with police prior to giving his testimony in the court. The informant demanded that he:

"Would have one of his pending cocaine trafficking charges and his possession of proceeds of crime charge stayed and on the other count of trafficking he would receive a two year sentence followed by three years probation. He testified that prior to making this deal he had been offered a five year sentence in a plea bargain on all charges (para 156) [but his was not what he wanted].

Nevertheless, the present study identified that in 66% of cases informants were compensated for their testimonies. Paid compensation ranged from \$CAD 100 to 12,000. The type of incentive was dependent on the importance of the case and availability of other evidence. Findings suggest that a key factor for the prosecution to rely on evidence provided by jailhouse informant was the lack of other evidence to successfully convict. The prosecution tended to be more generous when compensating jailhouse informants in those cases where no other sufficient evidence to convict was available (Mosteller, 2009). In such cases, evidence provided by informants had a significant effect on conviction (Mosteller, 2009). Additionally, the informant's evidence was of high importance in serious cases such as murder or manslaughter, which typically demands "swift justice" by society. Thus, "strong incentives lead to risks of distorted information and false testimony" (Mosteller, 2009, p. 552). This is especially evident in those cases where there "is clear potential for these incentives to produce false evidence implicating those 'believed' to be guilty of the crimes and for informants to embellish the responsibility of those they implicate" (Mosteller, 2009, p. 552). This practice has led to numerous wrongful convictions, but has not been prohibited in Canada.

Since the use of incentives was a dominant theme within the current research study, CHAPTER SIX explores incentives in further detail.

## **Justifications for Providing Evidence**

The judicial decisions described several reasons why informants testified against an accused. These ranged from financial benefits, sentence reductions or having charges dropped, and/or special treatment from authorities while in jail or afterwards. However, there were also those who claimed that their pure motivation to testify came from remorse for the victims or their families (*Morin* 1997). In *Trudel* (2004), "Emmerson and Jack Trudel [both jailhouse

#### JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS

informants] claimed that they came forward, in part, because of their horror over the killing of the pregnant victim. Interestingly, in one way or another, Emmerson and Trudel also claimed some kind of epiphany that led them to testify" (para 77). This statement however, did not disentangle whether they testified because of a feeling of empathy, or because both were later offered incentives for their testimony.

On the other hand, there were also those informants who did not want financial compensation or other privileges for their testimony. B.S., a jailhouse informant in *Dhillon* (2002), "came forward about a year after sharing a cell with the appellant because he said that he wanted to change his criminal ways" (para 11). "I wanted to change myself because I have given a lot of pain to my family", claimed B.S. when asked for his reasons to come forward with incriminating evidence against an accused (*Dhillon* 2002: para 23). Despite feelings of horror, remorse, or need to change criminal lifestyle, the present research showed that the majority of informants who provided justifications for testifying have requested or received incentives for doing so. In sixteen cases (46%) the information on justifications for testimony was provided. In eighteen cases (51%), however, informants had received either financial compensation, sentence reduction, dropped charges, or other privileges. Table 4 illustrates the variety of incentives offered and number of cases in which they were discussed.

Table 4. Type of Compensation

Type of Incentive	<b>Number of Cases</b>
Financial compensation	7
Reduction of sentence	6
Better condition of confinement	4
Other favours not disclosed	2
Outstanding parole application	3

Witness protection program	4
Conjugal visit with informant's spouse in paid hotel room	1
Phone call to informant's	1

Most jailhouse informants received a combination of incentives for their testimony. In *Baltrusaitis* (2002), for example, a jailhouse informant received financial compensation and the reduction of his current sentence for his help to authorities. Some informants (37%), while being compensated for their help to authorities, claimed that they were doing it for moral reasons. For example, in *Babinski* (1999), an informant "approached the police because it was a "good" thing to do and implied that he was also motivated by concern for the deceased's child" (para 3). Overall, informants claimed that they felt they had an obligation to help authorities to serve justice and punished perpetrators.

Still, the fear of being punished by fellow inmates for assisting authorities may overcome any compensation offered by police. This is a significant danger that informants are exposed to while in jail or even outside in the community. While, the notion of "honour among thieves" is not as widely practiced nowadays as it was in the past, the fear of retaliation is always present and informants may become victims themselves (Curriden, 1989). According to Mosteller (2009), "informants are particularly needed ... to solve and prosecute many cases", thus, the police are often in need of the help from "insiders who inform on the activities and who testify against those in the enterprise (p. 551). Furthermore, "revealing information about a powerful and dangerous criminal may demand physical protection and also require a positive inducement in order to endure the anticipated costs of testifying" (Mosteller, 2009, p. 551). Authorities must provide informers with not only monetary compensation or other benefits, but must ensure their safety and security following those trials where they testify against other

#### JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS

inmates. Authorities protect and compensate informants to ensure future cooperation and supply of information. Thus, in some cases:

"for informers who are also targets of prosecution, the incentives must outweigh the consequences of providing self-incriminating information. The informant must calculate that the threat to liberty is reduced by cooperation, which often requires the dismissal of a large number of potential charges in exchange for admission of involvement in some criminal acts" (Mosteller, 2009, p. 551).

This research demonstrates that several jailhouse informers were promised sentence reduction, better conditions of confinement and the dropping of charges for their assistance to authorities (*Assoun* 2006; *Brown* 2003; *Duguau* 2007). In most of these cases police relied on information provided by informers to convict an accused, as other evidence they had was weak. As in *Brooks* (1998):

Despite the appellant's denials, the evidence of King and Balogh [jailhouse informants] figured prominently in the prosecution's case. Their testimony provided direct evidence of the appellant's guilt. Although neither gave evidence about any sexual assault, they each testified that the appellant admitted to killing his baby. Thus their evidence, if accepted by the jury, was very incriminating (para 115).

Similarly in *Babinski* (1999),

In summary, Crown counsel relied upon L.'s evidence to fill a gap in the prosecution's case arising from a lack of trace evidence to connect the appellant to the crime. The trial judge instructed the jury that they could find that the appellant had confessed to L., with the result that there was direct evidence of his guilt. Finally, the trial judge told the jury that L.'s evidence was confirmed by other admittedly true evidence. The undisclosed evidence and the fresh evidence impact upon the reliability of that part of L.'s evidence implicating the appellant in the crime (p. 25).

Thus, it can be summarized that the main justification for using jailhouse informants was a lack of other sufficient evidence to prove the guilt of an accused.

#### **CHAPTER SIX**

## Influence of Incentives on Jailhouse Informants' Motivation to Testify

Incentives often become a reason to suspect the credibility of jailhouse informants. As noted in *Brooks* (1998), "the prospect of receiving a benefit gives any informant, whether in jail or not, a motivation to lie, or, at least to give inaccurate testimony" (para 100). Sherrin (1997) believes that the motivation to lie for benefits is growing with every opportunity. This is especially the case for informants who have spent some time behind bars. They are able to appreciate favors from authorities and are easily coerced to produce false testimonies:

Obviously the strength of any motivation to fabricate evidence will vary with the conditions in which an informant lives. But even the nicest jail is still a jail, and I think it is trite to say that there are very few prisoners who would not actually desire an improvement of their living conditions, especially if it involved their release from custody (Sherrin, 1997, p.112).

Desire to satisfy one's own ends motivates unsavory witnesses to manipulate not only police authorities but also the courts and especially the triers of fact. For this reason, the courts should be very careful when dealing with in-custody informants. Judicial authorities are more educated and experienced on how to differentiate truth telling from evidence fabrication. On the other hand, jurors are not as knowledgeable in handling jailhouse informant's testimony; they are community members who are called to the jury duty, and most of them have little prior familiarity of the process (Dufraimont, 2008; Schroer, 2011). Many informants in the current study were able to present their testimony very reliably and persuasively. Through their testimonies, informants tried to convince jurors that they are telling the truth about a defendant's confession and convince the jury of the defendant's guilt (*Assoun* 2006; *MacDonald* 2000).

Thus, everyone taking part in the court process where evidence from jailhouse informants is

presented must pay absolute attention and be very cautious about information they hear and decisions they make.

## **Manipulation of Evidence to Receive Incentives**

Informants may use evidence available to them in order to receive incentives. This is especially likely to happen if the information about the case is accessible to the informant through news reports, lawyers, other inmates, or other sources of information. For example in *Mallory* (2007):

The appellants contended that Gaudreault (informant) had obtained details of the crime from newspaper accounts, including some incorrect facts that found their way into the information he provided to the police... Later in the trial, the defence adduced the articles in evidence and, on the basis of the contents of those articles, the defence submitted to the jury that the articles contained almost all of the information Gaudreault needed to concoct his story (para 109).

Despite this, the jailhouse informant in *Mallory's* (2007) original trial used this information to his advantage and demanded compensation for helping authorities. The current research demonstrates that in 29% of cases, information about criminal matters received some media attention, thus providing jailhouse informants another means of obtaining information on a case, rather than from defendants directly.

The current study also found that informants were motivated to fabricate statements if they expected to receive sentence reduction, monetary reward, dropping of charges, and other goods in exchange for their testimony (*Baltrusaitis* 2002; *Brooks* 1998; *Duguay* 2007; *Sharif* 2009). Their testimony gave them an opportunity to become important players in the criminal trials. Furthermore, Natapoff (2006) argues that "many wrongful convictions represent instances where an innocent defendant refuses to plead guilty and goes to trial, but is nonetheless convicted because the jury accepts a snitch's testimony as credible and true" (p.113). Similar to juries, law authorities are not always able to differentiate real evidence from fabricated evidence.

Sometimes, the justice of the peace, through the judicial caution, can be the only individual who can have a potential effect on jurors' opinions about an informer or an evidence. For example in *Tran* (2001):

In his charge to the jury, at the outset of his review of Mr. Liebhardt's [informant] evidence, the judge referred to the witness's criminal lifestyle; the fact that he had lived on proceeds of crime; that he has 52 criminal convictions, most relating to dishonesty; and that he had received money from the Crown in relation to his participation in this matter. At the conclusion of his review of Mr. Liebhardt's evidence the judge cautioned that, in assessing Mr. Liebhardt's credibility, the jury should take into account his criminal record and the financial arrangement with the police (para 50).

The judge emphasized the untrustworthiness of an informant with an extensive criminal background. In addition, by providing a sufficient caution when it was required, the trial judge helped to emphasize problematic areas of particular evidence to avoid the possibility of wrongful conviction. Nevertheless, the current research demonstrates that judicial cautions during the criminal trials were at issue as they were either not provided or were not provided in full (*Brown* 2003, *Dickins* 2001).

Empirical research by Swanner, Beike, and Cole (2010) demonstrated that availability of incentives enhanced motivation to testify. In current study, the case of *Hurley* (2010) shows:

The central reason for approaching Mr. Niemi's [informant] evidence with caution was that, at the time he provided his original statement to the police, Mr. Niemi was aware of what he believed to be a \$50,000 reward in connection with evidence concerning Ms. Naistus' death. As indicated, in his testimony he acknowledged an interest in the reward and even confirmed that he had tried to collect it some months after providing his statement to the police (para 47).

Moreover, informants were motivated to fabricate confessions if they knew that they would be rewarded and no punishment would follow if the fabrication is uncovered. As Schroer (2011) notes: "One problem with the finding that incentives increase false testimony was that informants who provided false informant testimonies were rarely prosecuted, often leading them to think that they had nothing to lose by lying in exchange for an incentive" (p. 9). Moreover, the

current study demonstrated that even those informants who had been convicted for crimes of dishonesty and had previously lied to authorities were allowed to testify in some cases studied (*Dhillon* 2002; *Duguay* 2007).

Additionally, according to Diamond (2003), juries would not question whether the testimony of a witness was truthful if the witness testified for the Crown. Diamond's findings come from an empirical study of court cases and jury decisions where the prosecution witnesses presented evidence. Some juries presume that only reliable and truthful witnesses are called to testify for the prosecutors (Diamond, 2003). In addition, informants who testify for the Crown:

"Make very good witnesses. Not only may they have experience testifying, they may have few scruples about perjuring themselves. They will be highly motivated to testify well, because of the potential rewards for doing so and they may be able to gather information about the accused that makes their evidence more plausible" (*Brooks* 2000: para 119).

The current study determined that jailhouse informants were often witnesses with experience who had testified previously; some even in several cases (*Duguay* 2007; *Sharif* 2009). On the other side, jurors often did not have as much experience with the criminal justice system, therefore, they "were not able to properly assess information relevant to the credibility of jailhouse informants' testimony" (*Brooks* 2000: para 119).

Some in-custody informants made excessive demands to authorities to satisfy their requests. In *McInnis* (1999), a jailhouse informant named John Doe,

...Discussed the Martin homicide but refused to talk about the Côté homicide unless his demands were met. The police arranged for Doe to stay in a hotel room with his wife, and to be interviewed by an official with the Witness Protection Programme. The following day, Doe finally decided to tell what he knew about the Côté killing and Crosby agreed to look into his various demands. Doe was later transferred to Maplehurst Institution and released on parole (para 27).

On the other hand, when authorities were not able to fulfill desired requests by the informer, the latter tried to recant earlier statements, such as in the case of *Trudel* (2004):

Jack Trudel falsely implicated his brother and Sauvé in another murder and attempted to obstruct the course of the preliminary inquiry. He was unhappy with his treatment by the authorities, especially the witness protection programme, and was concerned that a videotape statement he had given to the police was circulating in the Ottawa underworld. He demanded a new identity and \$300,000 from the witness protection programme. These demands were not met. The appellants seek to introduce as fresh evidence statements made by Jack Trudel in which he was said to have recanted his trial testimony (para 18).

The current study found that in 17% of cases informants recanted their testimony following the trial (*Babinski* 1999; *Travenor* 2001; *Trudel* 2004). However, limited information about the punishment for perjury was uncovered. In her dissertation, Schroer (2011) who examined jailhouse informants and their influence on jury decision making, discussed a case of an incustody informant who had an extensive history of providing testimony to authorities in different cases before being caught for providing false testimonies. Despite the fact that this individual was eventually prosecuted and punished for his deeds, many innocent individuals were wrongfully convicted because of his false confessions (Bloom, 2002). Moreover, Schroer (2011) emphasized that repeatedly testifying for different cases is common for most jailhouse informants, a finding that has been borne out by the current study as well.

### **CHAPTER SEVEN**

# **Judicial Perceptions of Jailhouse Informants**

The judge's opinion on the evidence of jailhouse informant's testimony has an effect on how jurors perceive jailhouse informant testimony (Bloom, 2002; Burnett, 2008; Diamond, 2003). This study did not try to determine whether judicial opinion had an influence on jurors' decision making; rather, it identified phrases and sentences that illustrated judicial opinions about jailhouse informants and their evidence. A key finding regarding the description of the jailhouse informants was that most of them were viewed in a negative light by judges and defense attorneys. In Mallory (2007), the trial judge referred to those Crown witnesses as "rats" who had "a lengthy criminal record, have received benefits of either reduced sentences or monetary rewards or other benefits to help the police" (para 51). The judge also pointed to the fact that "the jury should scrutinize their evidence very carefully" (Mallory 2007: para 51). Through the judicial warnings where jailhouse informants were mentioned, judges emphasized negative characteristics (e.g., criminal records, unreliability) of informants. Moreover, in none of the studied cases did justices express a positive view of jailhouse informants or the evidence presented by them. Rather, in those cases where judges chose not to provide special cautions in regards to jailhouse informants, they missed the chance to recall aspects pointing to the unreliability of jailhouse informant and their evidence.

The current study has focused its attention on cases where jailhouse informant testimony was used to influence court trials and jurors' decision-making. Judges' opinions in different trials were diverse. In some trials, judges pointed out to the truthfulness and reliability of informant's evidence; providing suggestions on how informants' testimony should be treated. For example, in *Baltrusaitis* (2002),

The Crown says the admissions to John Doe on two different occasions are clear confessions of guilt by the accused. John Doe has nothing to gain or lose at this point. He said he does not care if you believe him or not. It is up to you. He has completed all his sentences and is not facing any more charges. Despite his criminal past he was an honest witness worthy of belief. His testimony was a strong piece of evidence identifying the accused as the killer, says the Crown (para 51).

In other cases, judges posed more negative attitudes towards informants:

The trial judge, however, concluded that the probative value of Bishop's testimony was affected by his lack of credibility and reliability as a witness. She was of the view that he was, in effect, a fraudster whose evidence was highly suspicious, particularly considering that Duguay, having been described as a secretive person, would not likely confide such incriminating information to an inmate he had known for only a few weeks. The trial judge used the "threshold reliability" test and concluded that such "questionable evidence" did not satisfy the test. Thus, she concluded that it "would be an error to let it go to the jury as it could be highly prejudicial to the accused (*Duguay* 2007: para 32).

In some instances, judicial comments underscored the unreliability and untrustworthiness of in-custody informants. Additionally, justices emphasized the informer's ability to obtain information:

Informers, especially jailhouse informers, have means to obtain information other than from the accused. The prosecution will often take the position that this evidence must have come from the accused since the informer had no other means of obtaining it. Informers are resourceful and well capable of obtaining information that they later plant into the mouth of the accused (*Trudel* 2004: para 78).

In *Wells* (2001), the trial judge pointed out to the jury the danger of accepting informant evidence in the case: "I would suggest that you use some caution in dealing with his evidence" (para 82). In addition, he referred to jailhouse informants as "being totally disreputable persons [who] should not be believed" (*Wells* 2012: para 82). Thus, judicial skepticism towards jailhouse informants raised many concerns with such evidence being accepted in a court of law. Numerous justices emphasized the need for eliminating the evidence of jailhouse informants based on previous wrongful convictions of individuals such as *Morin* (1998), *Truscott* (1959), and *Sophonow* (1982, 1983, 1984). These cases have left a negative mark on the history of Canadian criminal justice (Kaufman Report, 1998; The Sophonow Inquiry, 2001).

The literature review demonstrated that some judges tended not to question the evidence provided by jailhouse informants who claimed that defendants confessed to them: "American judges too tend to presume that a defendant who has confessed is guilty and, accordingly, treat him more punitively" (Leo, 2009, p. 341). Moreover, "conditioned to disbelieve defendants' claims of innocence or police misconduct, judges rarely suppress confessions, even highly questionable ones" (Leo, 2009, p. 341). An additional aggravating factor, identified by the study to have an influence on the final decision in the case was the lack of judicial warning in the trial where evidence of jailhouse informant was presented. The following elements combined to create a potential for wrongful conviction: judicial belief in the guilt of the accused, acceptance of potentially false evidence, and absence of judicial warnings. Numerous studies have demonstrated that "a false confession is a dangerous piece of evidence to put before a judge or jury, because it profoundly biases their evaluation of the case in favor of conviction, so much so that they may allow it to outweigh even strong evidence of a suspect's factual innocence" (Leo, 2009, p. 341).

Most justices however were skeptical about the trustworthiness and reliability of jailhouse informants: "The history of jailhouse informants providing evidence that has led to wrongful convictions has caused courts to take extra efforts to scrutinize evidence from witnesses who might be in that category" (*Baksh* 2015: para 4). Although most cases accepted the evidence of unsavory jailhouse informants in court, which contributed to a majority of guilty verdicts in the current study, there was much skepticism about their character and their evidence. A quote from *Brooks* (1998) represents a type of reasoning found in the majority of the cases:

There were cogent reasons to suspect the credibility of the two jailhouse informants in this case. K had a substantial criminal record for crimes of dishonesty. He was facing a three-year sentence in the penitentiary and his testimony was motivated by his desire to obtain a lighter sentence. Whether he ultimately obtained any benefit was not

determinative. Because he had previously made a deal with the authorities to avoid going to the penitentiary by testifying against a cellmate, he had reason to believe that his testimony in this case would gain him a lighter sentence. B also had a long criminal record, mainly for crimes of dishonesty, and had a long psychiatric history which demonstrated mental instability and a skewed sense of reality. While he claimed that he wanted to testify because his father was a violent man, such claims should be treated sceptically (p. 2).

Most informants identified by the current study had a history of past convictions (71%), as well as a history of testifying in previous cases (40%) which negatively affected their reputation. Additionally, in seven cases (20%) jailhouse informants were awaiting sentencing for charged offences. Thus, when providing a special warning to the jury, judges should emphasize a jailhouse informant's criminal record, especially if it contains crimes of dishonesty or perjury, and any previous records of testifying. Based on data uncovered by the current research, the majority of cases contained significant issues with the *Vetrovec* warning. Specifically, the *Vetrovec* warning must be provided in cases where "the evidence of certain witnesses is identified as requiring special scrutiny" (*Sauve* 2004: para 82). Furthermore, while judges did not express personal opinions about informants in studied court cases, in some instances they placed significant emphasis on the credibility of in-custody informants and their legal histories during the warning.

# **Indicators of Jailhouse Informant's Credibility**

The current research determined several potential indicators of informants' perceived credibility, as highlighted by the judge. These indicators included; history and types of previous convictions, number of charged convictions with a special focus on crimes of dishonesty, history of mental instability, and history of substance abuse. One of the main elements affecting the perceived credibility of the informant, however, was the availability of incentives received for the testimony provided. In *Dhillon* (2002), the trial judge emphasized negative aspects about the

credibility of an informant to the jury when warning them about accepting evidence of such individuals, as stated: "Keep in mind his lengthy criminal record, his admissions of past dishonesty and even the intervening fraud during the time that he was testifying before you" (para 16). Such a caution by the judge should have had a powerful influence on jurors' perception of evidence provided by the prison snitch. The majority of guilty verdicts (97%) in sampled cases, however, illustrated the opposite.

Another indicator of an informant's perceived credibility, according to this study, was an informant's previous record of testifying. In fourteen cases (40%), jailhouse informants had testified against other inmates in the past; some had testified more than once, while others offered to testify in exchange for benefits (Babinski 1999; Baltrusaitis 2002; Brooks 1998; Dhillon 2002; Mallory 2007; McFarlane 2012). In addition, it was determined that in-custody informants could be classified as either those who voluntarily approached police with incriminating evidence or those who were approached by police and asked to carry out the special task of acquiring information. Yet, it is hard to determine whether informants presented in this study approached authorities voluntarily with evidence of an accused's confession or were coerced to provide testimony against an accused. The evidence in 11 cases (31%) suggested that jailhouse informants had been set up by authorities. The case analysis demonstrates that, in most circumstances, jailhouse informants were rewarded with incentives for their testimony, despite many claims that testimony was provided in the name of justice and morality (*Morin* 1997; Trudel 2004). Overall, judicial quotes about the evidence of jailhouse informants reflected their negative view of such witnesses.

## **Summarising the Credibility of Jailhouse Informants**

As Mosteller (2009) notes, "Judge Stephen Trott of the Ninth Circuit, writing from his experience as a prosecutor said, "[s]ometimes these snitches tell the truth, but more often they invent testimony and stray details out of the air . . . ." (p. 555). Similar comments have been made about informants in the cases in the current study, which emphasizes the untrustworthiness of these witnesses.

Determining an informant's credibility "would include a review of the evidence to determine whether there are factors which have properly led the courts to be wary of accepting a witness's evidence" (*Brooks* 1998: para 96). Specific factors needed to be examined especially in those circumstances where the witness's evidence played a key role in the Crown's case.

Factors might include involvement in criminal activities, a motive to lie by reason of connection to the crime or to the authorities, unexplained delay in coming forward with the story, providing different accounts on other occasions, lies told under oath, and similar considerations (*Brooks* 1998: para 96).

The cases analysed for the current study have found all of these factors and some others in the backgrounds of informants. Additional factors that have been discovered included previous records of testifying, substance abuse, emotional disorders, and an availability of incentives. These risk factors for false testimony were found to co-occur in several cases from the sample (*Brooks* 1998; *Mallory* 2007; *Morin* 1997). Thus, individuals with such histories of personal characteristics should not been allowed to testify.

Most of the negative attitudes towards informants were based on their tendency to fabricate evidence and their willingness to provide testimony in exchange for incentives.

Unfortunately, in many criminal matters the fact that incentives were received was not disclosed to the jury. Generally, this happens because of the informer's privilege clause, which protects information about incentives, and other personal characteristics of informants that may be very

important for the case. Opponents believe that informer privilege is an unlawful tool that provides opportunity for informants to manipulate the justice system and to fabricate stories knowing they will receive protection (Ashenhurst, 2013). As noted, "That provision allows courts to prohibit the disclosure of government information if it engages a 'specified public interest' that needs protection, such as safeguarding intelligence-gathering techniques or the work of the public service" (Ashenhurst, 2013, p. 617). Two most common techniques where informer's privilege may be applied are the *Mr. Big* technique<sup>22</sup> and the use of jailhouse informants. The current study illustrates that the non-disclosure of relevant characteristics such as type of incentives received, previous criminal record of the informer, and history of psychological problems, substance abuse, and previous informing is common in cases where jailhouse informants testify. Consequently, prosecution or defence attorneys often appealed cases where non-disclosure of relevant information appeared.

Unfortunately, sometimes the system 'makes the blameless seem blameworthy' which in many cases has fatal results. Hence, "where witnesses have such unsavoury backgrounds" including lengthy criminal records and history of past informing, "experience teaches us that sometimes justice is perverted by their conduct as witnesses" (*Mallory* 2007: para 55). Arguably, some of these trials could have different outcomes if the entire system focused less on conviction and more on obtaining true justice.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> The *Mr. Big* technique is often used as a last resort for cases that have gone cold, or where the police strongly suspect someone of committing a crime but have thus far not been able to obtain any other evidence" (Milward, 2013, p. 81). The *Mr. Big* technique often involves using an undercover officer who plays at being a member of either an organized crime group or an affiliate of an individual who is a suspect of a specific crime. The main intention behind the technique is to collect information about the crime or provoke the suspect into confessing to the crime (Milward, 2013).

### **CHAPTER EIGHT**

## The Role of Testimony in the Conviction of an Accused

## **Grounds for Appeal**

While identifying and analyzing cases that have used the testimonies of in-custody informants, the current study investigated the role of this testimony in contributing to the conviction of an accused. In the current study, numerous cases illustrated that defendants were convicted based on the evidence provided by jailhouse informants. In *Bevan* (1993), "the Supreme Court of Canada described the evidence of two jailhouse informants as *crucial* to the Crown's case" (Genua, 2002, p. 4, emphasis mine). Another case, *Brooks* (2000), illustrated the situation where, according to the Supreme Court, the testimony of two jailhouse informants was not essential to the Crown's case; however, it played an important role in convicting the accused (Genue, 2002). Thus, the present study reveals that given the centrality of jailhouse informant testimony, it became a primary ground for later appeal.

Current study discovered that the majority of appeals in cases studied were related to the testimony of in-custody informants; in 25 cases (71%) grounds for an appeal were based either on the use of jailhouse informant's evidence, insufficient warnings provided in relations to the use of informant's evidence, or a combination of both. In addition, only in ten cases (29%) were appeals allowed. Nine of these ten appeals were based solely on the testimony provided by incustody informants. Another case, which was heavily loaded with in-custody informant's testimony, resulted in acquittal based on new DNA evidence, which was discovered through further investigation (*Morin* 1997). The remaining 23 cases (66%) that applied for an appeal of

the verdict were denied.<sup>23</sup> The current study identified various ground for appeals, but in the majority of cases, the use of jailhouse informants' evidence was a primary and significant ground for further review.

### **Importance of Evidence**

Court cases analyzed in the current study revealed much information regarding the significance of jailhouse informant evidence, in particular for Crown arguments. In *Babinski* (1999):

Crown counsel relied upon L.'s evidence to fill a gap in the prosecution's case arising from a lack of trace evidence to connect the appellant to the crime. The trial judge instructed the jury that they could find that the appellant had confessed to L., with the result that there was direct evidence of his guilt. Finally, the trial judge told the jury that L.'s evidence was confirmed by other admittedly true evidence. The undisclosed evidence and the fresh evidence impact upon the reliability of that part of L.'s evidence implicating the appellant in the crime (p. 25-26).

Similarly in *Baltrusaitis* (2002), the jailhouse informant's statement "was the only direct evidence implicating the appellant as the killer. In that sense, it provided the Crown with the fill needed to plug the potential cracks in its circumstantial case" (para 55). The importance of incustody informant evidence also depended on the availability of other evidence available to the Crown. This finding is consistent with Thomson, Hopgood and Valderrama (2011) who argued that in those cases where prosecutors lack sufficient evidence to prove the guilt of defendant, they are likely to use informant's evidence.

The majority of cases in the present study ended in convictions based on jailhouse informant testimony and/or other evidence supporting conviction. Most jailhouse informants were called to testify by the Crown. Only in two cases (6%) did defense attorneys use a jailhouse

<sup>23</sup> In another case, *Smith* (2002), an accused had died prior to the appeal hearing but his family continued with the litigation in order to clear his name. Unfortunately, besides the fact that that evidence in this case was circumstantial and other evidence came from in-custody informant, the appeal was denied (*Smith* 2002).

informant to argue for a defendant's innocence. In *McInnis* (1999), the defense called in a jailhouse informant to testify to contradict the evidence provided by another in-custody informant who was called in to testify for the Crown.

Jailhouse informant's testimony was deemed admissible in 80% of cases, and heard either at trial, a pre-trial motion, or at a *voir dire*. In *White* (2014), an informant was not called to testify during the trial. However, "counsel at trial agreed that his evidence could be given through his handler" (*White* 2014: para 5). In two other cases, *Duguay* (2007) and *Jawbone* (1998), the evidence of jailhouse informants was not admissible. This was despite the trial judge's willingness:

To accord some probative value to the evidence, she also held that the proposed evidence was disproportionately prejudicial because the evidence was likely to confuse the jury, and further was a waste of time. Although there is some merit to this proposition, it is rather obvious that the main reason, if not the only one, for excluding Bishop's testimony was the trial judge's conviction that he was an unreliable witness (*Duguay* 2007: para 37).

In the second case, the informant's testimony was not admitted because the defence was not aware of the evidence at the time of trial (*Jawbone* 1998). Thus, testimony of jailhouse informants from all cases studied, excluding one, made their way to the courtroom.

### The Use of Unreliable Witnesses and their Evidence

Lastly, the role of jailhouse informant's testimony may override other potentially significant evidence, which could aid in the acquittal of accused. In-custody informants are tools used by investigative authorities who may be guided by tunnel vision; "investigators often rely on jailhouse informants to bolster cases otherwise built on little more than circumstantial evidence" (*Jailhouse stories can't be trusted; Informants' Motives are Dubious*, 1999). Despite overwhelming credibility issues, testimonies of jailhouse informants were deemed admissible in the majority of cases analyzed by this study. In some cases, it was presented in trials where contradictory evidence was available. In *Hurley* (2009),

The accused suggests that had the police tested more of the evidence found, perhaps they might have identified the real killer. For instance, there were three hairs identified as ones that could provide a DNA profile, plus numerous other samples, including blood-like samples from the hallway outside the room and from the bathroom floor that were not tested for DNA (para 89).

The current research observed that despite significant credibility issues, authorities accepted testimonies from jailhouse informants. Moreover, authorities provided incentives to informants for their testimonies, thus demonstrating their likelihood to accept evidence favourable to them without properly considering contradicting scientific evidence (in some cases). In conclusion, sometimes investigators gladly accepted statements provided by informants in order to achieve a conviction:

The concrete reality of the case ... is that the Crown's main witnesses were all of unsavoury character and most of them had benefited from their cooperation with the police. The respondent took the stand in his defence, and was vigorously and exhaustively cross-examined, as were all of the Crown witnesses. The main Crown witnesses all pointed the finger at the respondent as the person who ordered the killing (*Duguay* 2007: para 65).

The current study demonstrated that jailhouse informant's testimony had a significant influence on the due process and conviction of accused, further, it has illustrated that courts accepted the majority of informants' testimonies. Only a few cases did not accept jailhouse informant testimony (*Duguay* 2007; *Jawbone* 1998) and in those cases in-custody informants' testimonies were dismissed not due to the unreliability of testimony or unsavouriness of witnesses, but rather due to technical difficulties. For example, in *Jawbone* (1998), the testimony of the in-custody informant was dismissed only because the defence was not aware of this evidence at the time of trial. Moreover, testimonies from in-custody informants were accepted despite the unsavory reputation of the sources. In those 34 cases (97%) that resulted in guilty verdicts, jailhouse informant testimony was used as evidence to convict. Thus, whether jailhouse informant's testimony was considered major or circumstantial evidence in the case, the current study determined that the testimony of 'prison snitches' played a significant role in convictions.

#### **CHAPTER NINE**

### **Judicial Cautions**

Throughout the literature review jailhouse informants were described as a class of individuals that had not only established a reputation as convincing liars but have also demonstrated their ability to manipulate the criminal justice system (Lam, 2009; Roach, 2007; Sorocham, 2008, 2009; Thompson, 2011). For this reason "they must be given special attention and their evidence should generally be excluded and only be admitted in very rare cases. On those rare occasions that it is admitted, it must be approached with the greatest caution" (*Trudel* 2004: para 76). The majority of cases in the current study appeared to struggle with court warnings required in dealing with evidence of jailhouse informants. In *Assoun* (2006), for example:

...The trial judge did not contribute a clear sharp warning cautioning the jury about the dangers of accepting the evidence of any of the disreputable witnesses without some corroborating evidence. The appellant argues that the trial judge erred by not electing to give a *Vetrovec* warning in respect of three witnesses of questionable character... (para 145).

The above matter was not the only case facing an issue with a *Vetrovec* warning; in fact, the majority of cases presently studied were appealed by defence on the grounds of insufficient warning provided by the judge in relation to the testimony of disreputable witness.

### Vetrovec Warning in Cases Studied

One of the most significant themes in all cases was the *Vetrovec* warning and the problems with its use. In criminal trials, judicial warnings play an integral role in achieving fairness of due process. As stated in *Wells* (2001), "the purpose of the *Vetrovec* warning is to alert the jury that there is a special need for caution in approaching the evidence of certain witnesses whose evidence plays an important role in the proof of guilt" (para 207). The current

study was reminded of "two main factors relevant when deciding whether a *Vetrovec* warning is necessary: the witness's credibility and the importance of the witness's testimony to the Crown's case" (*Baltrusaitis* 2002: para 52). Justice Peter de C. Cory in *Trudel* (2004) argued:

... The caution is of particular importance where there are defects in the evidence of a witness that may not be apparent to a lay trier of fact. Perhaps the most important of these is the jailhouse informer. Recent experience has shown that jailhouse informers are a particularly dangerous type of witness. The Report of the Commission on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin (Toronto: Ontario Ministry of the Attorney General, 1998) and The Report of the Inquiry Regarding Thomas Sophonow (Winnipeg, Man.: Manitoba Justice, 2001) have shown that these witnesses can be very convincing liars and are capable of fabricating evidence (para 76).

It was the responsibility of the trial judge to provide an adequate warning to the jury in cases studied; however, the responsibility of other parties (i.e., the defence and Crown) was not limited to requesting an appropriate caution. The current study demonstrated that the failure to request or provide adequate caution often led to appeal of the verdict.

As described above, the present study revealed several reasons why in-custody informants were seen as unreliable: 40% of cases used jailhouse informants who had a history of testifying in different cases. <sup>24</sup> In *Mallory* (2007), the defence raised a concern that the jailhouse informant who was called to testify for the Crown "regularly gave information to the police. In particular, he estimated that he had given [the police] between fifty to one hundred pieces of information" in total for different cases (para 292). In addition, some informants had a history of substance addiction, possessed various criminal histories, and received incentives for their testimonies. Thus, it was very important to use caution and follow proper procedures when dealing with evidence provided by these witnesses.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Babinski 1999; Baltrusaitis 2002; Brooks 1998; Dhillon 2002; Duguay 2007; Mallory 2007; McFarlane 2012; Morin 1997; Sauve 2004; Sharif 2009; Snow 2004; Stark 2000; Travenor 2001; Trudel 2004; Warner 1994.

The *Vetrovec* warning is essential in trials where unreliable witnesses testify as it allows the jury to sufficiently review evidence provided to them as well as assess its reliability. Some scholars have argued that the best way to deal with evidence provided by jailhouse informant was not to use such evidence at all (Neuschatz, 2008). In Khela (2009), Supreme Court Justice Fish gave his opinion regarding the issues with the *Vetrovec* warning provided by the trial judge. There, he argued that it was more important to focus on the content of any judicial caution presented in the court rather than on the form in which it is presented. Justice Fish also suggested that the jury must look for confirmatory evidence to any information provided by the jailhouse informant to make sure that such information is of value (Lam, 2009). This confirmatory evidence must be independent of the informant's testimony; it must not necessarily implicate the defendant but rather support the evidence of the in-custody informant and support his credibility (Lam, 2009). On the other hand, an absence of sufficient warning to the jury about the dangers of accepting evidence of an informant poses a risk that jurors without adequate skepticism or analysis will accept such evidence. Therefore, a clear, sharp, and sufficient warning by the judge has to be made in regards to the evidence provided by jailhouse informants.

Justice Binnie of the Supreme Court of Canada has supported clear judicial cautions. He explained in *Brooks* (1998), that "the jurors will not likely have the benefit of this 'experience' unless it is imparted to them by the trial judge in the 'clear and sharp warning' contemplated by *Vetrovec*" (*Khela* 2009: para 8). It is the role of the trial judge "to provide the proper framework within which that credibility can be evaluated, and in that regard, problems historically associated with particular types of evidence should not be overlooked" (*Khela* 2009: para. 8). The current study demonstrated that 49% of cases lacked sufficient warning pertaining to the credibility and trustworthiness of in-custody informants and their testimonies.

## The Continued Use of 'Polished and Convincing Liars' in the Court

Police and prosecutors often used jailhouse informants to their advantage; in some instances, they willingly demonstrated the importance and reliability of informants. In *Trudel* (2004), the court found that "experienced police officers considered very unreliable informants to be credible and trustworthy", and used their evidence to convict (para 76). It was not possible to measure whether police actually believed the evidence of an informant or pretended to do so. However, where police considered jailhouse informants reliable witnesses, they rewarded them with incentives despite the potential for devastating outcomes caused by their wrongful evidence (*Morin* 1997).

The reputation of the Canadian justice system has been marked by the use of in-custody informants as witnesses after several infamous cases have been demonstrated a wrongful conviction; notably *Truscott*, (1967), *Sophonow* (1984) and *Morin* (1997). Informant testimony greatly damaged the accused's right to a fair trial as well as took away individual freedom, for individuals how were later innocent (*Morin* 1997; *Sophonow* 1984; *Truscott* 1967). Justice Peter Cory in *Trudel* (2004) describes issues associated with jailhouse informants. According to Justice Cory "jailhouse informants are polished and convincing liars" who "rush to testify particularly in high profile cases" and whose "mendacity and ability to convince those who hear them of their veracity make them a threat to the principle of a fair trial and, thus, to the administration of justice" (para 76). Additionally, Justice Cory specified that "jurors will give the same weight to 'confessions' made to jailhouse informants, as they will to a confession made to a police officer" (*Trudel* 2004: para 76). For this reason alone, evidence of jailhouse informants should be treated with caution.

As of today it has not been possible to eliminate the use of such informants in Canadian courts of law; instead, the only protective measure required for use is a specialized judicial warning. The matter of improper warning had been highly debated in the majority of the cases studied. In those cases where "the conviction was quashed and a new trial was ordered", it was explained that "the trial judge should have provided the jury with a *Vetrovec* warning, and his failure to do so constituted an error in law" (*Baltrusaitis* 2002: p. 2). The judge reasoned in the case of *Baltrusaitis* (2002):

The trial judge erred in failing to provide a *Vetrovec* warning to the jury with respect to the evidence of the jailhouse informant. A *Vetrovec* warning was required because the informant's testimony suffered from serious credibility problems and, although his evidence was perhaps not crucial to the Crown's case, it was very important to it. The informant's credibility was inherently suspect because he was a young man with a substantial criminal record; many of his convictions involved offences of dishonesty and untrustworthiness; he had shown in the past that he was willing to sacrifice the interests of a good friend to further his own self-interest; his motivation for contacting the authorities and cooperating with them was based entirely on his own self-interest; he gave evidence at trial that was inconsistent with his initial statement to the police; and he attributed information to the accused that was clearly incorrect. His credibility problems were extremely serious, if not overwhelming. As for the importance of his testimony, it was the only direct evidence implicating the accused as the killer (p. 2).

The use of 'polished and convincing liars' in the court of law is a problem on its own. The absence of proper warning regarding the assessment of evidence, however, compounds the issue.

## **The Duty to Convict**

The role of the prosecution in criminal trials is not an easy one. Their main obligation is to deliver justice and to provide adequate justifications when proving the guilt of an accused. There are cases, however, when police and Crown Attorneys find 'shortcuts' to close the deal, rather than using resources available to them to find the truth. Shortcuts are often led by tunnel vision and motivation to convict at all costs. Mosteller (2009), suggests that if "the motivation is to convict a person who the prosecutor believes is guilty of some or many crimes, but not

necessarily guilty of the crime at issue, the system breaks down" (p. 553). This further suggests that some "prosecutors may not fully test evidence of guilt on a particular case because prior crimes and reputation create an assumption of guilt" (Mosteller, 2009, p. 553). The prosecution's real duty is to present reliable evidence to support the case at hand, rather than simply focus on conviction. Justice must be the main outcome of any criminal trial.

Prosecutorial willingness to employ the evidence of jailhouse informants bolsters the confidence of those witnesses. It has been noted that "witnesses are perceived by triers-of-fact to be more accurate if they seem highly confident in their testimony in court, despite the fact that confidence has been considered an unreliable indicator of accuracy by researchers" (Boydel and Read, 2011, p. 255). Several ways of potentially instilling confidence in jailhouse informants' testimony were identified through the process of coding. Furthermore, the availability of incentives offered in exchange for testimony encouraged in-custody informants to act carefully and be very convincing in the information that they provided as uncertainty in their testimony could leave them without rewards (*MacDonald* 2000; *Tran* 2001). Moreover, "often during the negotiations that resulted in the bargain, the prosecutor used a discretionary leverage to persuade the witness to testify" (Fishman, 2005, p. 16). Thus, not surprisingly the availability of incentives may have a significant impact on an informant's willingness to provide testimony.

Witnesses who were employed by authorities to fish for evidence against an accused and later to testify, were excluded from the present study. However, it was not always possible to discover whether jailhouse informants came forward with incriminating evidence voluntarily, or were encouraged by the state. Data analysis illustrated that in almost one-third of cases coded (ten out of 35 cases), an informant later reported that his testimony arose from the information that he received from a state agent rather than information that had been confessed to him by the

accused (*Babinski* 1999; *Baltrusaitis* 2002; *Sauve* 2004; *Trudel* 2004). Thus, it became evident that the prosecutors often use their authority to feed information to the witness to win the case. In addition, prosecutors made it quite clear to jailhouse informants that they may receive compensation for their help in convincing the jury in defendant's guilt (*Tran* 2000). Fishman (2005), notes that "there was greater risk that jailhouse informants might falsely incriminate one or more defendants in order to have something to offer the prosecutor and thereby obtain a deal more generous than he deserves" (p.16). For these reasons, many unsavory witnesses provided false testimony.

# **False Confessions Introduced by Informants**

False confessions of guilt on the part of defendants presented by jailhouse informants may disproportionately influence jurors against the defendant. Leo and Ofshe (2009) determined that "73 percent of all false confessors whose cases went to trial were erroneously convicted; this number went up to 81 percent in the study of Drizin and Leo of 125 false confessions" (p. 41). Thus, false confessions are dangerous evidentiary elements that lead to wrongful convictions. When such "dangerous piece of evidence" were "put before a judge or jury", "it profoundly biased their evaluation of the case in favor of conviction, so much so that they allowed it to outweigh even strong evidence of a suspect's factual innocence" (Leo, 2009, p. 41). Through their study, Leo, Ofshe and Drizin (2009) demonstrated "that real-world jurors simply fail to discount false-confession evidence appropriately, even when the defendant's uncorroborated confession was elicited by coercive methods and the other case evidence strongly supports his innocence" (p. 41). Triers of fact weigh evidence that involves confessions heavily, consequently jailhouse informant testimony is unduly damaging.

Additionally, Dodds (2008) argues that informants who were known to recant their testimony should not be considered credible witnesses. The current study found that it was common for jailhouse informants to recant their testimony (*Babinski* 1999; *Travenor* 2001; *Trudel* 2004). In 17% of cases examined, jailhouse informants recanted their statements. For example, in *Babinski* (1999), "after the accused was convicted, the informant contacted the accused's counsel and recanted several key aspects of his evidence. Shortly thereafter he resilenced from the recantation" (p.1). Thus, jailhouse informant's claims of hearing a confession by defendants, whether they are false or true, may cause errors and misunderstanding, as juries are inexperienced with weighing testimony in a criminal trial. Informants who recant their testimonies are not reliable and cast a shadow on their evidence post-decision.

# **Understanding Court Language and Terminology**

One of the most difficult elements of the criminal trial for a jury member is the legal language used by court officials. As Diamond (2003) notes, "perhaps the most serious and unique obstacle faced by the jury arises in applying the facts it finds to the law it receives in jury instructions" (p. 154). Since jurors are lay people who are selected to participate in the trial, not all of them, if any at all, have an ability to understand the language used by lawyers and the judges during the process. Moreover, understanding complicated and wordy judicial warnings may pose another challenge for jurors. The current study did not try to determine whether jurors understood all steps of the legal process. Rather, it focused on the problems associated with judicial warnings and other similarities among cases where jailhouse informants' testimonies were used.

#### **CHAPTER TEN**

#### **Discussion**

The present study was designed to uncover the circumstances under which confession evidence was introduced in courts of law by jailhouse informants. In conducting a qualitative content analysis of judicial decisions of criminal cases involving jailhouse informant's testimony, many themes were uncovered. In order to discuss recommendations on how to use jailhouse informants in Canadian court cases and directions for future research, a summary of the key findings and the limitations of current study will be detailed.

### **Kev Findings**

Jailhouse informants tend to be used throughout the ten provinces, but more commonly in the province of Ontario. Informants are typically male, middle-aged, have a history of informing for the Crown, and possess extensive and varied criminal histories typified by crimes of dishonesty. Most informants receive compensation for their testimony. In fact, incentives were the primary justification for jailhouse informants providing testimony, followed by claims of morality and attempts to change their lives for the better. Jailhouse informants are generally called upon to testify in cases of serious and violent offences that hold heavy penalties for convicted defendants. Such cases tend to endure increased public attention and pressure for authorities to find a guilty party. Findings suggest that the duty to convict may have outweighed the duty to serve justice and authorities were willing to use non-credible witnesses to provide favourable evidence. Jailhouse informants were generally used to "fill gaps" in cases with limited evidence to prove the guilt of an accused beyond a reasonable doubt.

Most jailhouse informants initially met the accused in jail. As a result, confessions were obtained over the course of conversations between them, or overheard by an informant when the accused was conversing with someone else. Confessions varied in length and wording; however,

their substantive content consistently involved an accused's confession, often accentuated by many details of the crime that were perceived to have only been known to the perpetrator. Yet, the current study found that in 29% of cases some media attention was drawn to the case indicating that there were alternative means of obtaining information about the case available to jailhouse informants.

All of the cases analyzed came from Canadian Criminal Courts that were later appealed. Only in few cases (29%), however, were appeals allowed. Various ground for appeals were presented, but the involvement of jailhouse informants in cases served as the most common ground for an appeal. Specifically, issues with the *Vetrovec* warning arose nearly in every case, where judges failed to provide adequate warning regarding suspicious and unreliable evidence by jailhouse informants.

# Recommendations

The Commission on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin and The Sophonow Inquiry are major sources of recommendations in relation to the use of jailhouse informants and recommendations on how to deal with their evidence in Canadian criminal courts. Among these inquiries, over forty recommendations were dedicated to the issues imposed by in-custody informants (The Inquiry Regarding Thomas Sophonow, 2001; Kaufman Report, 1998). The main arguments raised by these commissions were focused on the unreliability of jailhouse informants and their undue influence on wrongful convictions. These arguments were supported by other independent organization - Innocence Canada (2016). Innocence Canada (2016) emphasizes the danger of accepting evidence of in-custody informants and suggests an absolute prohibition of its use. Further recommendations suggest changes to the Crown's policies on how to present evidence of jailhouse informants:

The Crown policy should reflect that such evidence has resulted in miscarriages of justice in the past or been shown to be untruthful. Most such informers wish to benefit for their contemplated participation as witnesses for the prosecution. By definition, in-custody informers are detained by authorities, either awaiting trial or serving a sentence of imprisonment. The danger of an unscrupulous witness manufacturing evidence for personal benefit is a significant one (FPT Heads of Prosecutions Committee Report of the Working Group on the Prevention of Miscarriages of Justice, 2015).

The above quote points to the fact that such evidence leads to wrongful conviction, emphasizes untruthfulness of jailhouse informants, and suggests that they are prone to fabricating evidence in order to manipulate the system. Based on the data collected in the current study and literature review, it was supported that jailhouse informants should be excluded from the list of potential and reliable witnesses.

The current research reviewed the idea of 'paying for evidence' and its effect on informant's willingness to testify. Indeed, in several cases authorities were willing to pay for information that helped them to win the case. In addition, this study found that evidence provided by in-custody informants was used in cases where heinous crimes had been committed. The pressure to solve crimes on the part of authorities and the practice of exchanging benefits for testimony by informants could encourage informants not only to manipulate authorities but also to fabricate evidence and use it to their advantage. Despite many recommendations on how to deal with jailhouse informant's evidence, miscarriages of justices based on informant testimony continue (Innocence Canada, 2016). When the system of justice often makes mistakes such as a wrongful conviction, the social and personal consequences are tremendous. Thus, those in authority must ensure that laws and regulations are created and implemented in order to serve justice rather than cause injustice.

Furthermore, the criminal justice system must pay closer attention to determining the trustworthiness and reliability of the evidence provided by informants. In the current study, this

requirement was crucial in excluding dishonest evidence that could lead to wrongful conviction. Some scholars suggest establishing the reliability of an informer before issuing a search or an arrest warrant based on an informant's testimony (Wolson & London, 2004; Roach, 2009; Stewart, 2008; Sherrin, 2005). Mandatory pre-trial reliability hearings could be helpful in determining the degree of reliability of statements provided by informers and to conduct an investigation into the background of an accused (Kaufman Report, 1998). Such investigations would helped to determine an informant's previous criminal record and his previous testimonies, where applicable. Pre-trial reliability hearings should aim to make decision about the informant's testimony: to establish whether the information provided by an informer was sufficiently reliable to be submitted before the judge or the jury at a trial (Lawlert, 1986; Macfarlane, 2006).

# **Limitations and Directions for Future Research**

Current study offers significant information on the circumstances around the use of jailhouse informants in Canadian criminal courts with potential contribution to existing laws and the justice system. However, the limitations of current study are worthy of mention. First of all, this study included a relatively small sample size, of just 35 cases. While 88 Canadian Appeal cases were initially examined, only 35 cases reflected the inclusion criteria. Thus, caution should be used in over-generalizing the findings of the study.

Qualitative case coding and analysis were used to provide answers to the main research question and sub-questions in the current study. These answers, however, varied in their informative strength given the limited information reported on some variables under study. Insufficient information was available to allow for predictions or generalizations regarding the demographic characteristics of informants and defendants (e.g., marital status or education), with only gender and age of informants and defendants being more readily available.

In addition, the historical period of the cases poses another limitation. The earliest case studied was from 1994 and the most recent case was from 2016 (*Baksh* 2015, 2016; *Warner* 1994). Regulations regarding evidence have changed over time. Through the work of commissions of inquiry, rules and regulations on how to treat evidence received from jailhouse informants have become more stringent, though the extent to which this has eliminated the use of unreliable evidence is arguable. As a result, the amount of information related to informants, their criminal histories, and rewards offered for the testimony was not equally accessible in all cases, nor was all of this information available to juries.

An additional limitation that posed a challenge to the research study was the informer's privilege clause. Informer's privilege clause protects information that may reveal the identity of the informer. Thus, the current study, in some cases, was challenged by not being able to discover all the relevant information that was required (e.g., age of informants and defendants, information about incentives, other demographical characteristics of defendants and informants). Some cases did disclose information about an informer's background, identity, juvenile records, criminal history, history of mental illness, other medical conditions. The availability of more relevant demographic information would have allowed the opportunity to study further similarities between cases.

Additional limitations were imposed by the demographics of the research itself. An emphasis on one specific jurisdiction – Ontario cases (63%) - limited the study's ability to generalize nation-wide. On the other hand, including cases from other jurisdictions and territories provided a better understanding of the data and improved reliability. In addition, one of the challenges in studying all Canadian jurisdictions was the language barrier as some jurisdictions use the French language to administer and document court cases (e.g., Quebec). To resolve this

issue, future research should include decisions written in French. Since the province of Quebec follows Ontario in the population size, it would be wise to examine French language cases that used in-custody informants in prospective study.

A final limitation, that may help guide future research, was the inability to interview individuals directly involved with criminal justice system; lawyers, prosecutors, judges, and jurors involved in cases where jailhouse informants have been used. Personal interviewing requires a flexible schedule on the part of researcher and subjects of interest. This study would allow the researcher to discover information unavailable from legal sources (e.g., Quick Law); it would allow an investigation into the personal opinions of those individuals who were directly involved in criminal cases where jailhouse informants were used. In addition, personal interviews would provide an opportunity to reveal information about geographic characteristics of informants and defendants, which was not available in all cases. Similarly, information about the incentives received and reality of police involvement in the process of discovering testimony of an accused could potentially be uncovered.

#### Conclusion

Today, numerous rules, suggestions, precautions, and laws are used in the criminal justice system to avoid mistakes that can lead to wrongful convictions. Inquiries into wrongful convictions of individuals highlight examples of how an innocent person's life can be damaged through these errors. Justice Peter Cory made the most powerful statement regarding wrongful convictions, stating:

Wrongful conviction... demonstrates the failure of our system of justice. Failures lead to a lack of confidence in police and the courts. That, in turn, can lead to a fear that anyone may be wrongfully convicted and imprisoned. Society must do all that is humanly possible to prevent wrongful convictions... (The Inquiry Regarding Thomas Sophonow, 2001).

The current study emphasized several suggestions on how to use investigative tools, work with evidence, treat jailhouse informants, and accept or reject evidence from jailhouse informants in order to reach justice. These suggestions should be reflected in any new policies regarding jailhouse informants' and similar witnesses' testimony. Despite the fact that different inquiries, guidelines, and laws were created to deal with relevant evidence, injustices due to the use of incustody informants' testimonies continue.

Every time someone is convicted of an offence for which they are innocent, it can be said the justice system fails in three ways: first, by inflicting unjustifiable harm on the wrongfully convicted person, secondly, by allowing the actual perpetrators of the crime to remain free to victimize others, and thirdly, by re-victimizing the victim or his or her family by undoing the emotional closure that has already taken place (Macfarlane, 2006, p. 403-487).

The phenomenon of jailhouse informants in Canadian criminal courts remains an understudied issue that requires thorough and comprehensive analysis given the potential of injustices caused by their use. The main intention of this study was to explore the circumstances in which jailhouse informant's testimony was used in Canadian Criminal Court proceedings, which were ultimately appealed. A qualitative analysis of judicial decisions identified trends across cases regarding jailhouse informants' unsavoury characteristics, influential confession testimony, precarious use of incentives and failures in jury cautions that, taken together, support existing arguments against the use of jailhouse informant's testimony because of the risk of injustice. The current study is among the first in discovering systematic issues and circumstances of the use of jailhouse informants in Canadian courts.

#### References

- Ashenhurst, V. (2013). Litigating informer privilege under section 37 of the Canada Evidence Act: a critique of R. v. Basi. *Queen's Law Journal*, 38(2), 617-644.
- Bedau, H.A. & Radelet, M.L. (1987). Miscarriages of justice in potentially capital cases. Stanford Law Review, 40, 21–179.
- Bell, B.E., & Loftus, E.F. (1989). Trivial persuasion in the courtroom: The power of (a few) minor details. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *56*, 669-679.
- Bell, J. G., Clow, K., & Ricciardelli, R. (2008). Causes of wrongful conviction: Looking at student knowledge. *Journal of Criminal Justice Education*, 19(1), 75–96.
- Bloom, R. M. (2002). *Ratting: The use and abuse of informants in the American justice system.*Westport: CT: Praeger Publishers.
- Brockman, J. (2010). An offer you can't refuse: Pleading guilty when innocent. *Criminal Law Ouaterly*, 56, 116-134.
- Burnett, A. L. (2008). The potential for injustice in the use of informants in the Criminal Justice System. *Southwestern University Law Review*, *37*, 1079-1089.
- Call, J. (2001). Judicial Control of Jailhouse Snitches. The Justice System Journal, 22(1), 73-83.
- Campbell, K.,& Denov, M. (2004). The burden of innocence: Coping with a wrongful imprisonment. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 46(2), 139-163.
- Chasse, K., Edmond, G., & Roach, K. (2012). COMMENT: "junk science" by way of a higher burden of proof. *Canadian Criminal Law Review*, 16(3), 323-355, 357-379.
- Charmaz, K. (2006). Constructing grounded theory: A practical guide through qualitative analysis. London: Sage Publications.

- Clarke, A.W., & Whitt, L. (2007-2008). Problem without borders: A comment on Garrett's judging innocence. *Queen's Law Journal*, 33(619).
- Colvin, E. (2009). Convicting the innocent: A critique of theories of wrongful convictions.

  \*Criminal Law Forum, 20, 173–192.
- Curriden, M. (1989). No honour among thieves. ABA Journal, 75, 52-56.
- Denov, M. S. & Campbell, K. M. (2005). Criminal injustice: Understanding the causes, effects, and responses to wrongful convictions in Canada. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 21(3), 224-249.
- Diamond, S. S. (2003). Truth, justice, and the jury. *Harvard Journal of Law & Public Policy*, 26(1), 143-155.
- Dodds, E. J. (2008). I'll make you a deal: How repeat informants are corrupting the Criminal Justice System and what to do about it. *William and Mary Law Review*, *50*, 1063-1104.
- Dufraimont, L. (2008). Regulating unreliable evidence: Can evidence rules guide juries and prevent wrongful convictions? *Queen's Law Review*, *33*, 261-287.
- Eggers, D., Vollen, L. (2005). Surviving Justice: America's wrongfully convicted and exonerated. San Francisco: McSweeney's.
- Findley, K. A. & Scott M. S. (2006). The multiple dimensions of tunnel vision in criminal cases, Wisconsin Law Review, 2, 291-397.
- Fishman, C. S. (2005). Defense witness as "accomplice": should the trial judge give a "care and caution" instruction? *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 96(1), 1-24.
- Genua, P. (2002). Prison informants: Learning the lesson of the jailhouse informant. 1-49.
- Giannelli, P. C., & McMunigal, K.C. (2007). Prosecutors, ethics, and expert witnesses. Fordham Law Review, 76, 1493-1537.

- Howden, H. (2002). Judging errors of judgment: Accountability, independence &vulnerability in a post-appellate conviction review process. *Windsor Yearbook of Access to Justice*, 21, 569-582.
- Huff, R. C., Rattner, A., & Sagarin, E. (1996). Convicted but innocent: Wrongful conviction and public policy. CA:Sage.
- Jailhouse stories can't be trusted; informants' motives are dubious. (1999, Jan 17). *Edmonton*\*\*Journal Retrieved from https://libproxy.wlu.ca/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/252592259?accountid=15090.
- Keenan, K. T., & Brockman, J. (2010). *Mr. Big: exposing undercover investigations in Canada*. Halifax N.S.: Fernwood Pub.
- Kalajdzic, J. (2009). Access to justice for the wrongfully accused in National Security Investigations. *Yearbook of Access to Justice*, 27, 1-38.
- Klopper, H. (2008). The Qualitative Research Proposal. *Curationis*, 31(4), 62-72.
- Lam, S. (2009, January 28). Cautioning the Jury About Unsavoury Witnesses: The Vetrovec Warning. Retrieved from The Court: http://www.thecourt.ca/2009/01/cautioning-the-jury-about-unsavoury-witnesses-the-vetrovec-warning/
- Lawlert, L.E. (1985-1986). Police Informer Privilege: A Study for the Law Reform Commission of Canada. *Criminal Law Quarterly*, 28, 91.
- Layton, D. (2004). The criminal defence lawyer's role. *Dalhousie Law Journal*, 27, 379-412.
- Leo, R., & Ofshe, R. (1998). The consequences of false confessions: Deprivation of liberty and miscarriages of justice in the age of psychological interrogation. *Journal of Criminology and Criminal Law*, 88, 429-496.

- Leo, R. A. (2009). False Confessions: Causes, Consequences, and Implications. *Journal of the American Academy of the Psychiatry and the Law 37*(3), 332–43.
- Leo, R., & Davis, D. (2010). From false confession to wrongful conviction: Seven psychological processes. *Journal of Psychiatry & Law, 38*(1,2), 9-18.
- Levy, H. (2009, August 9). The Charles Smith Blog: William Mulisn-Johnson case: Prosecutor speaks out more than a decade after successfully prosecuted innocent man for murder that never occurred; Retrieved October 18, 2013, form

  http://smithforensic.blogspot.ca/2009/08/william-mullins-johnson-case-prosecutor\_09.html
- Lincoln, R. & Morrison, C. (2006). Rights of the wrongfully convicted. *The National Legal Eagle*, 12(2), Article 2, 1-7.
- Macfarlane, B. (2006). Convicting the innocent: A triple failure of the justice system. *Manitoba Law Journal*, *31*, 403-487.
- Macnamara, D. E.J. (1969). Convicting the innocent. Crime and Delinquency, 15(57), 56-62.
- Manishen, J. F. (2006). Wrongful convictions, lesson learned: The Canadian experience. *Journal of Clinical Forensic Medicine*, 13, 296-299.
- McElhaney, J. W. (1995). Jury instructions. ABA Journal, 81, 91-94.
- McFadyen, M. (2002, April). 690 review clause. Paper presented at the conference on Wrongful Conviction: Experiences, Implications and Working Towards Justice, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- McMillan, J. J. & White, R.A. (1993). Auditor's belief revisions and evidence search: The Effect of Hypothesis Frame, Confirmation Bias, and Professional Scepticism. *The Accounting Review*, 66(3), 443-465.

- Milward, D. (2013). Opposing Mr. Big in principle. The University of British Columbia Law Review, 46(1), 81-120.
- Moore, T. E., Copeland, P. & Schuller, R. A. (2009). Deceit, betrayal, and the search for truth:

  Legal and Psychological Perspectives on the '*Mr. Big*' Strategy. *Criminal Law Quarterly*,

  55(3), 348-404.
- Morgan, M. (1948). The legacy of Sacco and Vanzetti. New York: Harcourt.
- Mosteller, R. P. (2009). The special threat of informants to the innocent who are not innocents:

  Producing "first drafts" recording incentives and taking a fresh look at the evidence. *Ohio State Journal of Criminal Law*, 6, 519-579.
- Natapoff, A. (2006). Beyond Unreliable: How Snitches Contribute to Wrongful Convictions. Golden Gate University Law Review, 37(1), 106-130.
- Neuschatz, J. S., Lawson, D. S., Swanner, J. K., Meissner, C. A., & Neuschatz, J. A. (2008). The effects of accomplice witnesses and jailhouse informants on jury decision making. *Law and Human Behavior*, 32, 137-149.
- Poveda, T. G. 2001 Research note: Estimating wrongful convictions. *Justice Quarterly 18*(3), 689–708.
- Quirk, H. (2007). Identifying miscarriages of justice: Why Innocence in the UK is Not the Answer. *Modern Law Review*, 70(5), 759-777.
- Raeder, M. (2007). See no evil: Wrongful convictions and the prosecutorial ethics of offering testimony by jailhouse informants and dishonest experts. *Fordham Law Review*, 76, 1413-1452.
- Rattner, A. (1988). Convicted but innocent: Wrongful Conviction and the Criminal Justice System. *Law and Human Behavoir*, *12* (3), 283-293.

- Reitano, J. (2016). Adult correctional statistics in Canada, 2014/2015. Juristat: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics, 14-3B,4B,5B,6B,7B,8B,9B,10B,11B,12B,13B,14B,15B,16B.

  Retrieved from https://libproxy.wlu.ca/login?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1791368858?accountid=15090.
- Rich, M. L. (2012). Lessons of Disloyalty in the World of Criminal Informants. *American Criminal Law Review*, 49, 1493.
- Roach, K. (1999). Inquiring into the causes of wrongful conviction. *Criminal Law Bulletin 35*, 152–169.
- Roach, K. (2007). Unreliable evidence and wrongful convictions. *Criminal Law Quarterly*, 52, 210-236.
- Roach, K. (2010). Wrongful Convictions: Adversarial and inquisitorial themes. *North Carolina Journal of International Law and Commercial Regulation*, *35*, 387-446.
- Rosen, P. (1992). Wrongful convictions in the Criminal Justice System. *Government of Canada Depository Services Program*. Retrieved from http://dsp-psd.pwgsc.gc.ca/Collection-R/LoPBdP/BP/bp285-e.htm.
- Russano, M. (2005). Investigating true and false confessions within a novel experimental paradigm. *Psychological Science*, *16*(6), 481-484.
- Saguil, P. G. (2007). Improving wrongful conviction review: Lessons from a comparative analysis of continental criminal procedure. *Alberta Law Review*, *45*, 117-136.
- Sandelowski, M., & Barroso, J. (2003). Writing the proposal for a qualitative research methodology project. *Qualitative Health Research*, *13*(6), 781-820.

- Scheck, B., Neufeld, P., & Dwyer, J. (2000). *Actual Innocence: Five days to execution, and other dispatches from wrongly convicted.* New York: Doubleday.
- Schroer, N., Costanzo, M. (advisor); Blandon-Gitlin, I. (committee member); Krauss, D. (committee member); Omoto, A. (committee member). (2011). Believing a snitch: An examination of jailhouse informants and juror decision-making, *ProQuest Dissertations* and Theses ProQuest Dissertations Publishing, 1-90.
- Simpson, A. I. F., Mcmaster, J. J., Cohen, S. N. (2013). Challenges for Canada in meeting the needs of persons with serious mental illness in prison. *The Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, 41(4), 501-509.
- Sherrin, C. (1997). Jailhouse informants, Part I: Problems With Their Use. *Criminal Law Quarterly*, 40, 106-112.
- Sherrin, C. (2005). False confessions and admissions in Canadian Law. *Queen's Law Journal*, 30, 601-659.
- Sherin, C. (2008). The Charter and protection against wrongful conviction: Good, bad or irrelevant? *Supreme Court Law Review* (2d), 40, 377-414.
- Sherrin, C. (2011). Guilty pleas from the innocent. *Windsor Review of Legal and Social Issues*, 30, 1-42.
- Schmitz, C. (2003). Informer privilege should be rarely overcome, says SCC. *The Lawyers Weekly*, 27, 1-8.
- Skurka, S. (2002). Symposium: Perspectives on the role of cooperators and informants: A

  Canadian perspective on the role of cooperators and informants. *Cardozo Law Review*,

  23, 759-770.

- Sorocham, D. J. (2008-2009). Wrongful convictions: Preventing miscarriages of justice some case studies. *Texas Tech Law Review*, 41(93).
- Stewart, H. (2008). Section 7 of the Charter and the Common Law Rule of Evidence. *Supreme Court Law Review*, 40(2), 415-436.
- Swanner, J.K., Beike, D.R., Alexander, T., Cole Cutler, B. (2010). Snitching, Lies and Computer Crashes: An Experimental Investigation of Secondary Confessions. *Law and Human Behavior*, *34*(1), 53-65.
- Swanner, J.K., Beike, D.R. (2010), Incentives Increase the Rate of False but not True Secondary Confessions from Informants with an Allegiance to a Suspect. *Law Hum Behaviour*, *34* (5), 418-428.
- Thompson, S. G., Hopgood, J. L., & Valderrama, H K. (2011). American Justice in the Age of Innocence: Understanding the Causes of Wrongful Convictions and How to Prevent Them. Bloomington, United States of America.
- Trotter, G. T, (2003-2004). False confessions and wrongful convictions. *Ottawa Law Review*, *3*, 179 210.
- Vaughn, M. S. (1996). Prison civil liability for inmate-against-inmate assault and breakdown/Disorganization Theory. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 24(2), 139-152.
- Warren, C. A. B., & Karner, T. X. (2010). *Discovering qualitative methods: Field research, interviews, and analysis*. Los Angeles, CA: Oxford University Press.
- Weisman, R. (2004). Showing remorse: Reflections on the gap between expression and attribution in cases of wrongful conviction. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 46(2), 121-138.

- Winograde, J. (1990). Jailhouse informants and the need for judicial use immunity in Habeas Corpus proceedings. *California Law Review*, 78, 755-785.
- Wolson, R. J., & London, A. M. (2004). The structure, operation, and impact of wrongful conviction inquiries: The Sophonow Inquiry as an example of the Canadian experience.

  \*Drake Law Review\*, 52, 677-693.

#### Websites

- CBC News. (2010, October 14). Canada's Wrongful Convictions. Retrieved August 14, 2014, from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/canada-s-wrongful-convictions-1.783998
- Chapter 7 In-Custody Informers. (2011, September 13). Retrieved from Public Prosecution Service of Canada: http://www.ppsc-sppc.gc.ca/eng/pub/ptj-spj/ch7.html
- FPT Heads of Prosecution Committee Report of the Working Ggroup on the Prevention of Miscariages of Justice. (2013, April 30). Retrieved from Department of Justice Canada: http://canada.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/cj-jp/ccr-rc/pmj-pej/p7.html
- FPT Heads of Prosecution Committee Report of the Working Ggroup on the Prevention of

  Miscariages of Justice. (2013, April 30). Government of Canada, Department of Justice,

  Electronic Communications. Retrieved August 14, 2014, from

  http://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/cj-jp/ccr-rc/pmj-pej/p7.html
- FPT Heads of Prosecution Committee Report of the Working Group of the Prevention of Miscarriages of Justice. (2015, January 7). Retrieved from Department of Justice: http://www.justice.gc.ca/eng/rp-pr/cj-jp/ccr-rc/pmj-pej/p7.html#s72
- Macisaac, A. (2010, May 19). *Judicial Caution: Vetrovec Warnings & the Adduction of New Evidence in R. v. Hurley*. Retrieved from The Court:

  https://www.thecourt.ca/2010/05/judicial-caution-vetrovec-warnings-the-adduction-of-new-evidence-in-r-v-hurley/
- Manitoba Justice. (2010). *The Inquiry Regarding Thomas Sophonow* (2001) pg. 1-299.

  Retrieved from Manitoba

  http://digitalcollection.gov.mb.ca/awweb/pdfopener?smd=1&did=12713&md=1

- Medical Misdiagnosis Research. (2011, January 21). *Medical Misdiagnosis Research*. Retrieved August 14, 2014, from https://medicalmisdiagnosisresearch.wordpress.com/category/shaken-baby-syndrome/ontario-reviews-shaken-baby-cases/when-experts-become-advocates-the-case-of-dr-charles-smith/
- 2.5 Principles of Disclosure. 2 Statement of Policy. (2014, March 1). Retrieved from Public Prosecution Service of Canada: http://www.ppsc-sppc.gc.ca/eng/pub/fpsd-sfpg/fps-sfp/tpd/p2/ch05.html
- Report of the Kaufman Commission on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin Ministry of the Attorney General. (2010). Report of the Kaufman Commission on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin Ministry of the Attorney General. Retrieved August 14, 2014, from http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca/english
- Report of the Kaufman Commission on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin Ministry of the Attorney General. (1998). Report of the Kaufman Commission on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin Ministry of the Attorney General. Retrieved August 14, 2014, from http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca/english/about/pubs/morin/
- Report on the Prevention of Miscarriages of Justice. (2004). Retrieved October12, 2013 from FPT Heads of Prosecutions Committee Working Group:

  http://www.justice.gc.ca/en/dept/pub/hop/
- Section 7-14: Legal Rights. (2009, January 14). In *Government of Canada*. Retrieved from: http://www.pch.gc.ca/ddp-hrd/canada/guide/lgl-eng.cfm

- Textbox 2 table. Initial entry of adults into correctional services, by type of supervision and by province, 2013/2014. (2015, November 30). Retrieved from Statistics Canada: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/2015001/article/14163/tbl/tbltb-eng.htm
- The Association in Defence of the Wrongly Convicted. (2013). *AIDWYC The Association in Defence of the Wrongly Convicted*. Retrieved August 14, 2014, from <a href="http://www.aidwyc.org/">http://www.aidwyc.org/</a>
- The Innocent Project US (2013). Retrieved October 24, 2013 from: http://www.innocenceproject.org
- The Inquiry Regarding Thomas Sophonow: The Investigation, Prosecution and Consideration of Entitlement to Compensation. (2001). Retrieved November 26, 2013, from Manitoba Justice: www.gov.mb.ca/justice/sophonow/toc.html
- The Ministry of the Attorney General. (2010, December 9). Report of the Kaufman Commission on Proceedings Involving Guy Paul Morin. Volume 1. Chapter 3, Section C-D Jailhouse Informants. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca/english/about/pubs/morin/morin\_ch3cd.pdf">http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca/english/about/pubs/morin/morin\_ch3cd.pdf</a>

# **Court Cases**

R. v. Assoun, [2006] 154 N.S.J. 47 (N. S. C. A.)

R. v. A.O., [2011] 825 O.J. 145 (C. A.)

R v Babinski, [1991] 67 C.C.C. (3d) 187 (O. C. A.), affirmed (1992), 76 C.C.C.

(3d) 286 (S. C. C.)

R v Babinski, [1999] 1407 O.J. 44 O.R. (3d) 695 (C. A.)

R. v. Baksh, [2015] 5225 ONSC

R. v. Baksh, [2016] 1907 O.J. 2486 (S. C. J.)

R. v. Baltrusaitis, [2002] 464 O.J. 58 (3d) 161 (C. A.)

R v Bevan, [1993] 82 C.C.C. (3d) 310 (S. C. C.)

R v Bevan, [1993] 2 S.C.R. No. 599 (June 17, 1993).

R. v. Brooks, [1998] 3913 O.J. 41 (3d) 661 (C. A.)

R v Brooks, [2000] 141 C.C.C. (3d) 321 (S. C. C.)

R v Brooks, [2000] 141 C.C.C. (3d) No. 187 (S. C. C. November 22, 2000).

R. v. Brown, [2002] 2 S.C.R. 185

R. v. Brown, [2003] 71 M.J. 35 (M. C. A.)

R. v. Butts, [2012] 108 O.J. 24 (C. A.)

*R. v C.D.*, [2005] (O. C. A.)

R. v. Campbell, [2005] 4669 O.J. 203 O.A.C. 360

R. v. Carroll, [2014] 2 O.J. 314 O.A.C. 281

R. v. Dhillon, [2002] 2775 O.J. 161 O.A.C. 231

R v. Dickens, [2001] 217 A.J. 51 (C. A.)

R. v. Druken, [1999] 183 N.J. 43 (2d) 156 (N. S.C. – C. A.)

R. v. Duguay, [2007] 337 N.B.J. 65 (C. A.)

R. v. Hurley, [2009] 462 S.J. 86 (C. A.)

R. v. Jawbone, [1998] 235 M.J. 126 (2d) 295 (C. A.)

R. v. Khela, [2009] 4 SCC 104 (S. C. R.)

R. v. Khelawon, [2006] S.C.R. 787

R. v. MacDonald, [2000] 143 N.S.J. 60 (C. A.)

R. v. Mallory, [2007] 236 O.J. 46 (C. A.)

McArthur v. Ontario (Attorney General), [2013] 5016 O.J. 668 (C. A.)

R. v. McFarlane, [2012] 2374 O.J. 355 (C. A.)

R. v. McInnis, [1999] 1353 O.J. 44 O.R. (3d) 772 (O. C. A.)

R. v. Morin, [1992] 1 S.C.R. 771

Morin v. R., [1997] 217 O.J. 32 O.R. (3d) 265 (C. A.)

R. v. Pelland, [1997] 1539 O.J. 99 O.A.C. 62

R. v. Pilgrim, [2001] 4253 O.J. 150 O.A.C. 394

R. v. Sharif, [2009] BCCA 390

R. v. Smith, [2002] 34 N.J. 8 (S. C. R. – C. A.)

R. v. Snow, [2004] 4309 O.J. 73 O.R. (3d) 40 (C. A.)

R. v. Sophonow, [1984] 2 S.C.R. 524.

R. v. Spackman, [2012] 6127 O.J. 905 (C. A.)

R. v. Stark, [2000] 1406 O.J. 131 O.A.C. 184

R. v. Tran, [2000] 355 N.S.J. 128 (C. A.)

R. v. Tran, [2001] 2 N.S.J. 2 (C. A.)

R. v. Tavenor, [2001] 207 O.J. 140 O.A.C. 78

R v. Truscott, [1967] S.C.R. 309 (May 4, 1967).

R. v. Trudel, [2004] 248 O.J. 182 O.A.C. 58

Vetrovec v. The Queen, [1982] 1 S.C.R. 811.

R. v. Warner, [1994] 2658 O.J. 21 O.R. (3d) 136 (C. A.)

R. v. Wells, [2001] 81 O.J. 139 O.A.C. 356

R. v. Welsh, [2013] 190 ONCA

R. v. White, [2014] 273 O.J. 64 (C. A.)

R v Wong, [2014] 3069 B.C.J. 486 (C. A)